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1. STATEMENT BY THE MANAGEMENT AND  
AUDITORS’ REPORT
1.1 STATEMENT BY THE MANAGEMENT ON THE ANNUAL REPORT

STATEMENT BY THE MANAGEMENT AND 
AUDITORS’ REPORT

The board has today considered and adopted the annual report 
of Aarhus University.

The annual report has been presented in accordance with the 
Ministry of Finance’s guidelines and Ministerial Order no. 1021 of 
24 June 2020 on the Funding and Auditing etc. of Universities.
It is hereby confirmed:

1. that the annual report gives a true and fair view, which means 
that it is free from material misstatement and omissions and 
that the presentation of and reporting on targets in the annual 
report are adequate;

2. that the financial transactions included in the financial state-
ments are consistent with the reported grants, legislation and 
other provisions, as well as agreements made and general 
practice; and

3. that procedures have been set up to ensure financially efficient 
administration of the funds and the operations of the institutions 
covered by the annual report.

Aarhus, 14 April 2021
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1.2 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Auditor’s report on the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Aarhus University for 
the financial year 1 January - 31 December 2020. The financial 
statements comprise the accounting policies, income statement, 
balance sheet, cash flow statement and notes 1-18.  The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with Ministerial 
Order no. 116 of 19 February 2018 on State Accounting, the Ministry 
of Finance’s Economic Administrative Guidelines, and Ministerial 
Order no. 1021 of 24 June 2020 on the Funding and Auditing 
etc. of Universities (hereinafter referred to as the ‘government 
accounting rules’).

In our opinion, the financial statements are correct in all mate-
rial respects, i.e. prepared in accordance with the government 
accounting rules.

Basis of opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with international auditing 
standards and the additional requirements applicable in Denmark, 
as well as generally accepted public auditing standards, whereby 
the audit is performed on the basis of Ministerial Order no. 1021 of 
24 June 2020 on the Funding and Auditing etc. of Universities. Our 
responsibility according to these standards and requirements is 
described in more detail in the auditor’s report, in the section ‘The 
auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial statements’. 
We are independent of the university in accordance with IESBA’s 
international ethics standards for accountants and the additional 
requirements applicable in Denmark, just as we have fulfilled our 
other ethical obligations under these rules and requirements. In 
our opinion, the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and provides 
a suitable basis for our opinion.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
The management is responsible for preparing financial statements 
which are correct in all material respects, i.e. prepared in accor-
dance with the government accounting rules. The management 
is also responsible for such internal controls as the management 
deems necessary to enable the preparation of financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In connection with the preparation of the financial statements, the 
management is responsible for assessing the university’s ability to 
continue as a going concern; for providing information on matters 

relating to its continued operations, where relevant; and for pre-
paring financial statements based on a going concern principle, 
unless the management either intends to liquidate the university 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial statements
Our goal is to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial sta-
tements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report with an 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit performed in accordance with 
international standards on auditing and the additional require-
ments applicable in Denmark, as well as generally accepted 
public auditing standards, see Ministerial Order no. 1021 of 24 June 
2020 on the Funding and Auditing etc. of Universities, will always 
identify material misstatements, when they exist. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error, and are considered material if, indi-
vidually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users made on the basis 
of these financial statements.

As part of an audit performed in accordance with international 
standards on auditing and the additional requirements appli-
cable in Denmark, as well as generally accepted public auditing 
standards, see Ministerial Order no. 1021 of 24 June 2020 on the 
Funding and Auditing etc. of Universities, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement in the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures in response to these risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. The risk of not detecting material misstatements resulting 
from fraud is higher than for material misstatements resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or overriding internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the university’s internal controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied 
by the management and the reasonableness of the accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the management.

To the Board of Aarhus University

STATEMENT BY THE MANAGEMENT AND 
AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Aarhus, 14 April 2021
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Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab
CVR no.: 33 77 12 31

Claus Lindholm Jacobsen
State-Authorised Public Accountant
mne23338

Jens Weiersøe Jakobsen
State-Authorised Public Accountant
mne30152

• Conclude whether the management’s preparation of the fi-
nancial statements on a going concern basis is appropriate, 
and whether, based on the audit evidence obtained, material 
uncertainty exists related to events or matters which may cast 
significant doubt on the university’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the disclosures in the financial statements about the material 
uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion on the financial statements. Our conclusions are 
based on information available to us as of the date of the 
auditor’s report. Future events or conditions may, however, 
cause the university to cease to continue as a going concern. 

We communicate with the senior management regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Auditor’s statement on the management’s report and perfor-
mance reporting
Management is responsible for the management’s report and 
performance reporting. 

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not comprise 
the management’s report and performance reporting, and we 
do not express any opinion on the management’s report and 
performance reporting.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, it is our 
responsibility to read the management’s report and performance 
reporting, and in this regard to consider whether the management’s 
report and performance reporting are materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or any knowledge obtained by us 
during the audit, or in any other way appear to contain material 
misstatement.

Our responsibility is furthermore to consider whether the manage-
ment’s report and performance reporting contain the information 
required in accordance with the government accounting rules.

Based on the work performed, it is our opinion that the manage-
ment’s report and performance reporting are in accordance with 
the financial statements and have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements set out in the government accounting rules. 
We have not found any material misstatement in the manage-
ment’s report and performance reporting.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Statement on compliance audit and performance audit
Management is responsible for ensuring that the transactions 
covered by the financial reporting are consistent with the reported 
grants, legislation and other provisions as well as agreements made 
and general practice; and that due financial consideration has 
been given to the administration of the funds and the operations 
which are covered by the financial statements. In this respect, 
management is responsible for establishing systems and proces-
ses that support financial prudence, productivity and efficiency.

In performing our audit of the financial statements, it is our respon-
sibility, in accordance with generally accepted public auditing 
standards, to select relevant items for both compliance audit and 
performance audit purposes. In our compliance audit, we test the 
selected items to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the 
tested transactions covered by the financial reporting are consi-
stent with the relevant provisions in grants, legislation and other 
regulations, as well as agreements made and customary practice. 
In our performance audit, we assess with reasonable assurance 
whether the tested systems, processes or transactions support due 
financial concerns in relation to the management of the assets 
and operations of the entities covered by the financial statements. 

If, on the basis of the work that we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this information, we are 
required to report on this. 

We have no significant critical comments to report in this respect.

STATEMENT BY THE MANAGEMENT AND 
AUDITORS’ REPORT
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2.1.2 STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

REPORT

Aarhus University is a strong university that is internationally recog-
nised for the high quality of its research, research-based degree 
programmes and public sector government consultancy, in additi-
on to value-creating collaboration with private businesses, public 
sector institutions and civil society. The curiosity-driven creation of 
knowledge rooted in strong disciplines to benefit society has been 
the university’s reason for existing since its founding in 1928. 

Aarhus University’s academic portfolio is broad-ranging, from 
the classic university disciplines of the humanities, natural scien-
ces, social sciences, health sciences and theology to business 
and engineering, educational theory and practice and the en-
vironmental and agricultural sciences. This breadth gives the 
university a unique opportunity to combine strong disciplines to 
forge research breakthroughs, and to establish close collabora-
tion with many sectors to benefit society as a whole.

Research is the foundation of Aarhus University’s vocation, in-
cluding what is perhaps the university’s most important task: to 
educate students and to give them access to new knowledge 
through research-based degree programmes that also devel-
op their characters, creativity, independence and cooperation 
skills. In the eyes of the university, students and graduates are 
the most important bearers of the university’s knowledge. For 
this reason, it is important that they – along with the university’s 
academic staff – take responsibility during and after their studies 
for bringing their knowledge into play and thus contributing to a 
sustainable society and an informed democracy. The university 
has a broad understanding of sustainability and contributes to 
global cooperation on the UN Sustainable Development Goals. 

Realising Strategy 2025 requires that the university remains an 
attractive place to work that continuously develops the quality 
of its work environment and study environment. The university’s 
ambition is to be an inspiring framework for all staff and students. 
To succeed in this, the university must ensure that opportunities 
and development are available to all, as well as ensuring staff 
and student involvement and visible, accessible leadership. 

AARHUS UNIVERSITY’S VISION

Aarhus University’s vision is to be a research-intensive university that 
aspires to the highest international quality and excels in creating 
value through knowledge, new insights and collaboration, in ad-
dition to facilitating connections between Denmark and the world. 
The vision emphasises Aarhus University's consistent ambition 

to ensure that research activities meet the highest international 
standards, thereby forming a solid foundation for all of the uni-
versity's other activities such as education, public sector consul-
tancy, collaboration and knowledge dissemination.

The vision demands that the university applies its academic 
strength and breadth and its international position to genera-
te value for society, both in Denmark and internationally. In the 
context of this strategy, value should be understood in a broad 
sense, including the social, economic and cultural development 
of society as a whole. Thus value cannot be construed solely as 
a question of contributing to economic growth, since the univer-
sity’s role is also to develop critical, constructive dialogue and 
to frame human existence within a larger context, as well as to 
contribute to democratic development and a sustainable future. 

New advances and breakthroughs in knowledge are generated 
through free and independent research both within and across 
individual disciplines. In recognition of this, the university will 
both attract international researchers and cultivate its own re-
search staff, whether they be established researchers, promising 
junior researchers or talented PhD students.  
 
The university is one of the cornerstones of society, and its stu-
dents, graduates and researchers help shape the society of the 
future through the knowledge they bring into play, from popular 
research communication to the general public, to research-ba-
sed public sector consultancy and participation by researchers 
in government commissions and councils. 

Collaboration is absolutely crucial in this strategy. Specifically, the 
university’s goal is to strengthen collaboration: across disciplines; 
with private sector and public sector institutions; and in promo-
ting innovation. In this way, the university can increase the value 
of its contribution to society while at the same time maintaining its 
position at the vanguard of the needs of the society of the future. 

What drives Aarhus University’s international collaboration is the 
vision of connecting Denmark to the global society through the 
university’s activities. With their strong tradition for international col-
laboration, the universities have a special responsibility to take the 
lead at a time in which international collaboration is facing political 
challenges, and in which the need to work together to find solutions 
to global societal challenges is greater than ever. Thus the university 
wants to promote global exchange of knowledge and talent.
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Democracy and sustainability are central themes in the universi-
ty’s vision for 2025. One of the university’s tasks is to contribute to 
a democracy in which opinions are debated and decisions are 
made on an informed basis and on the background of the latest 
knowledge. One of the greatest challenges facing society is the 
transition to sustainable development. In this context, the univer-
sity’s task is to contribute solutions through research, education 
and collaboration. The ongoing digital transformation will also 
have a decisive impact on society in the years to come. Here too, 
the university must contribute both to driving development and 
studying its effects on society.

The outset of the vision is that Aarhus University is a genuine 
international campus university with vibrant campuses where 
students, staff and external partners meet in close collaboration. 
The university’s main campus in Aarhus is already recognised in-
ternationally for its distinctive architecture and urban location. In 
the coming years, the university will develop and rethink both its 
main and satellite campuses, developing them into even more 
vibrant, engaging and innovative study, research and work en-

Research of the highest
international quality

Interdisciplinary
research

to address
societal

challenges

Graduates for
the labour market
of the future

Research-based
degree programmes
of the highest
international quality

Development of 
research talents
and integration of research
into degree programmes
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development and welfare 

through research

RESEARCH
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U

C
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vironments of the highest international calibre that are operated 
and developed sustainably. The university’s vision for its own sus-
tainable operation and development is described in its climate 
strategy, which supports the overall vision for 2025.

The vision for Strategy 2025 is a manifestation of Aarhus Univer-
sity as a research-intensive university that aspires to the highest 
international quality and excels in creating value through know-
ledge, new insights and collaboration. The vision also empha-
sises the university's international commitment to bridge bet-
ween Denmark and the international community. The six core 
activities of Aarhus University are defined in the university's missi-
on in the strategy, and are reproduced in the figure below. 
 
The core activities are categorised under the three main hea-
dings research, education and collaboration, and they all inclu-
de specific strategic goals, sub-goals and initiatives to support 
the overall goal to ensure the highest international quality within 
the core activities. 

REPORT

Figure. Aarhus University’s mission
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2.1.3 KEY FIGURES

Student FTEs, 
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REPORT
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2.2 MANAGEMENT’S REPORT  

In line with the rest of Danish society, the coronavirus pandemic 
had a major impact on Aarhus University in 2020, with significant 
consequences for activities at the university and not least for in-
dividual employees and students. The lockdown in the spring 
meant that teaching staff and IT employees rapidly and skil-
fully had to convert physical teaching into online teaching and 
convert physical exams to digital formats. There were also huge 
challenges for students who, with laudable energy, completed 
their classes and exams in the spring under the new conditions 
and with a very different student social life. The senior manage-
ment team acknowledges the considerable efforts made by 
both staff and students throughout the year in handling corona. 
Viewed with the backdrop of the pandemic, overall 2020 has 
been a satisfactory year for Aarhus University, based solely on 
key figures and strategic objectives for overall operations, but the 
senior management team is concerned with the signs of poor 
well-being among students and staff resulting from the full and 
partial lockdowns in the autumn and winter.

The conditions and opportunities for research activities were also 
radically altered, but it is still too early to assess the long-term 
consequences for the university's overall research efforts. From 
the outset, a number of Aarhus University's researchers have con-
tributed basic research about the COVID-19 virus and helped in-
form the public about the pandemic and put its consequences 
into perspective. This applies to questions about the virus and 
its treatment, infection trends, socio-economic consequences, 
how daily behaviour is affected by restrictions, etc. Researchers 
from the university have also been part of expert committees 
that have advised the government closely on difficult decisions 
during the year and participated in subsequent investigation of 
decision-making processes in the initial phase of the pandemic. 
The extensive and rapid consultancy from health science, natu-
ral science and social science researchers to the public and to 
policy-makers stresses the value of the university's readiness to 
provide knowledge based on comprehensive basic research. 

Aarhus University’s Strategy 2025 was adopted by the board of 
Aarhus University in December 2019. 2020 was therefore the first 
year of the new strategy, and there were efforts to implement 
the first action plan in the strategy. The action plan describes the 
activities the university will continue or initiate in a specific year 
in order to implement Strategy 2025. Implementation of Strate-
gy 2025 will be monitored regularly by the senior management 
team, who will assess whether work on the strategic initiatives 
and activities has been progressing as planned despite the 
challenges caused by the coronavirus pandemic. At the annual 
management seminar in the spring, the full management team 

will be involved in developing next year's action plan. The man-
agement will discuss input for the action plans in order to vali-
date, inspire and prioritise the proposed initiatives and activities. 
An outline for a single consolidated action plan for the university 
will be presented at the summer board seminar. With its strate-
gic annual planning cycle, Aarhus University wants to establish 
the framework for a dynamic strategy in which the organisation 
constantly learns more and adapts the goals and sub-goals in 
the strategy for any changes in society's needs and framework 
conditions.

In April 2020, the AU Board approved Aarhus University’s first 
climate strategy. Climate Strategy 2020-2025 has four focus ar-
eas to reduce the university's carbon emissions from buildings, 
transport and procurement, and for better waste separation as 
an environmental measure. The target is that, by 2025, Aarhus 
University's carbon emissions will be reduced by 35 per cent 
compared with 2018, and that the university will be carbon-neu-
tral by 2040. The strategy is ambitious and it will help to ensure 
that the university significantly reduces its climate footprint and 
promotes sustainable development in its operations. Further to 
the climate strategy, in 2020 an action plan was drawn up con-
taining 44 activities within the four focus areas. Work to develop 
the activities has involved a large number of staff and students 
at the university, and collaboration has continued with the devel-
opment of action plans for 2021. Aarhus University's climate ac-
counts for 2019 were presented at this year's final board meet-
ing, and the follow-up for 2020 was presented at the first board 
meeting in 2021. The follow-up showed that, at the end of the 
year, the majority of the activities had either been successfully 
completed or were well on the way. The climate accounts were 
prepared for the second time and showed a decrease in univer-
sity carbon emissions, although this is mainly due to external fac-
tors because of a change in the energy mix in the district heating 
and electricity AU uses (more biomass).

As an important element in Aarhus University's strategic ambi-
tions for internationalisation, the university has been involved in 
developing the Circle U. university alliance since 2018. The al-
liance was approved by the European Commission in summer 
2020 and the project started in early November 2020. Circle U. 
entails that, together with six European partner universities (the 
University of Oslo, the University of Louvain, Kings College Lon-
don, Université de Paris, the Humboldt Universität zu Berlin and 
the University of Belgrade) Aarhus University is part of a Euro-
pean university education partnership with collaboration on re-
search and innovation. So far, Circle U. has received funding for 
a three-year period, and work is under way within three knowl-

REPORT
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edge hubs under the themes Climate, Global Health and De-
mocracy. Together with other European university alliances, the 
alliance will help forge a more integrated university Europe, in 
which stronger cross-border collaboration contributes to solving 
global challenges. One way to do this is through significantly 
more student mobility and improved knowledge exchange on 
educational methods.

The division of the Faculty of Science and Technology into two 
new faculties, the Faculty of Natural Sciences and the Faculty 
of Technical Sciences, came into force at the start of 2020. This 
means that Aarhus University now has five faculties of more 
equal size. The Faculty of Natural Sciences encompasses the 
classical natural science fields of biology, physics and astrono-
my, chemistry, geology, mathematics, computer science, molec-
ular biology and nanoscience. The Faculty of Technical Sciences 
contains engineering science, the environment, animal science, 
agro and food as well as research-based public sector consul-
tancy by the university. The two faculties will continue Aarhus 
University's significant initiatives on digitalisation and engi-
neering science, and during the year the Faculty of Technical 
Sciences made preparations to reorganise engineering into four 
new departments based on the disciplines within this technical 
area. This will create a clearer profile for the engineering area 
and a better framework for collaboration between the Bache-
lor of Engineering and the MSc in engineering disciplines. The 
new organisation, and the range of new study programmes, will 
strengthen the basis for the ambitious engineering initiative to-
wards 2025, with more students and development through tar-
geted recruitment of teaching staff and researchers. 

Aarhus University as an international campus university is a cen-
tral element in Strategy 2025, and in 2020 the university contin-
ued to develop a consolidated and integrated main campus in 
Aarhus. In collaboration with Aarhus University, during the year 
Forskningsfondens Ejendomsselskab A/S continued develop-
ment of the University City in the former municipal hospital area, 
and the first significant relocation of the university's activities – 
the Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics – will be in 
early 2022. During 2020, planning commenced for the next ma-
jor move to the area in 2025 by the Department of Economics 
and Business Economics and the Department of Management, 
with a tendering procedure for almost 40,000 m2 in a turnkey 
contractor competition. In February 2020, The Kitchen, which 
houses the university's initiative on joint academic innovation 
activities, moved into temporary premises in the University City. 
The Kitchen was opened with representatives from business and 
industry, the municipality and the region, which demonstrates 
that The Kitchen extends beyond the university and encourages 
collaboration with the entire region, see also page 16. Develop-
ment of the Katrinebjerg area also continued in collaboration 
with Forskningsfondens Ejendomsselskab A/S. The area already 
contains significant parts of the university's IT and engineering 
activities, and the planned development of these activities will 
take place in this area.

Three new members joined the senior management team in 
2020. On 1 January 2020, Eskild Holm Nielsen was appointed as 
the dean of Technical Sciences and he came from a position as 
the head of innovation at Aalborg University Hospital. Lone Ryg 
Olsen was appointed as a director of enterprise and innovation 
on 1 February 2020. She came from a position as the CEO of the 
Danish Food Cluster. On 1 April 2020, Kristian Pedersen was ap-
pointed as the dean for Natural Sciences, coming from a position 
as the director of DTU Space.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND PERFORMANCE REPORTING

Aarhus University broke even in 2020, with equal revenues and 
costs. After a budgeted loss of DKK 49 million, the result realised 
was DKK 0. Total revenues were DKK 6,660 million against ex-
pected total revenues of DKK 6,833 million, corresponding to a 
negative variance of DKK 172 million. Total costs were DKK 6,696 
million, which is DKK 206 million less than budgeted costs of DKK 
6,902 million. Net financial income was DKK 35 million, which is 
DKK 16 million higher than budget.

The negative budget variance reflects a year affected by re-
peated coronavirus closures and shows a reduction in the lev-
el of activity compared with both the level expected in budget 
planning and the level in 2019. 

In the 2021-2024 budget, Aarhus University expects stable an-
nual growth in revenues, with the underlying assumption that the 
Covid-19 restrictions will be lifted during the first part of 2021. 

The financial result for 2020 therefore gives no reason to adjust 
the strategic direction or the 2021-2024 budget.

2020 is the third year of Aarhus University’s strategic framework 
contract with the Minister for Higher Education and Science. The 
framework contract is described in detail in section 2.4 of the 
annual report.  Aarhus University’s overall assessment is that it 
is firmly on track to realising the goals agreed in the strategic 
framework contract.

RESEARCH AND TALENT DEVELOPMENT

As a research-intensive university, Aarhus University aims at the 
highest international quality. Excellent basic research is a cor-
nerstone of Aarhus University's activities, because basic research 
generates new knowledge and new insights to benefit society. 
Moreover, basic research is the foundation for the university's oth-
er core activities and it is an important prerequisite for attracting 
competitive research funding. 

The recruitment of talents – from tenure track assistant professors 
to professors – is crucial to maintaining and expanding the posi-
tion of our research stronghold. The university has strengthened 
the quality of the recruitment process in recent years through 
standards for the recruitment of tenured academic staff. The 
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Use of external research funds and attracting new grants in 
2020
Changes in how the university uses and attracts new external re-
search funding over the past five years are shown in section 2.3 
Financial review. Below, the use in 2020 is illustrated by source.

In 2020, Aarhus University’s use of external research funding fell 
by more than 2 per cent in real terms compared with 2019. Al-
though there has been increased use from Danish private sourc-
es and from the EU, this has not outweighed the decline in the 
use of public-sector Danish funding. A significant reason for the 
decline in the latter is probably that somewhat lower than nor-
mal public-sector Danish funding was attracted in 2018. As use 
of funding granted is often with a "delay" of one-two years, the 
decline in use has not become apparent until 2020.

Competition between Danish and international universities on 
new grants of external research funding is constantly intensify-
ing. In spite of this, in 2020 Aarhus University attracted over 7 per 
cent more grants, thereby continuing the trend in recent years. 
The increase in grants was primarily from public-sector Dan-
ish sources, but also from the EU and other foreign sources. On 
the other hand, private Danish funding fell. In 2020, researchers 
from Aarhus University also received a number of new funding 
commitments from the EU framework programme for research, 
Horizon 2020, including one of the prestigious Synergy Grants 
from the European Research Council (ERC). All in all, since its 
launch in 2014, Aarhus University has attracted funding for 425 
projects of approximately DKK 1.60 billion from the Horizon 2020 
programme. 

New major grants
Aarhus University participated in approximately 40 corona-relat-
ed projects launched in 2020, and all five faculties have contrib-
uted to this work. The research extends from understanding the 
pandemic and its spread, to developing treatment options and 
understanding the societal consequences for individuals as well 
as the consequences for the democratic development of society 
in a broad sense. Grants have been obtained from the EU, In-

standards have helped to increase the number of qualified ap-
plicants to permanent academic positions. This means that our 
academic environments can recruit the best researchers, select-
ed from a strong field. 

Talent and career development, gender equality
Since 2017, Aarhus University has been focusing on talent and 
career development in our Junior Researcher Development Pro-
gramme. The programme aims to create clearer career paths for 
young researchers without permanent tenure at the university. 
After a positive evaluation of the programme activities, a work-
ing group, including early career researchers, has developed the 
programme so that it can be implemented across the faculties.   

In 2020, the Aarhus University Board adopted an action plan for 
gender equality 2020-2022. The action plan aims to improve 
the gender balance among university staff – especially the ac-
ademic staff and the management, where the imbalance in 
some places is particularly pronounced. The action plan has 
been drawn up by the university's interdisciplinary Committee 
for Diversity and Equality, in which rector and pro-rector share the 
chairmanship. The action plan clearly identifies the activities to 
be carried out and who is responsible for implementation.

Responsible conduct of research and data protection
In recent years, Aarhus University has intensified its efforts to en-
sure responsible conduct of research and freedom of research 
in our academic environments, as research integrity is a funda-
mental and crucial part of research production. In 2020, our work 
focused in particular on drawing up ground rules for responsible 
conduct of research and freedom of research in collaboration 
with external parties. Furthermore, an online course on respon-
sible conduct of research and freedom of research at Aarhus 
University has been developed, and this is compulsory for all ac-
ademic staff. At the end of 2020, 86% of the target group had 
completed the course. In 2020, Aarhus University's basic rules 
were included in the basis for preparation of a national code of 
conduct for research-based collaboration and consultancy. 

In 2020, Aarhus University further prioritised work on data pro-
tection within the research area. Many research projects at the 
university process personal data. In 2020, Aarhus University drew 
up a compliance plan designed to ensure that all participants in 
research projects, whether they be testing new medical devices 
or conducting qualitative evaluations of new language-teach-
ing initiatives in daycare centres, can be confident that the uni-
versity will treat their personal data lawfully and securely. The 
university's focus on data protection in research has already 
proven its worth, as in autumn 2020 the Danish Data Protection 
Agency decided to inspect how Aarhus University processes 
personal data for research purposes. In the years to come, the 
university will continue its work on how the faculties can support 
their researchers in data-protection issues, so that individual re-
searchers can more easily meet their responsibilities for lawful 
processing of personal data.
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Ill. Aarhus University’s use of external funding in 2020
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dependent Research Fund Denmark, Innovation Fund Denmark, 
and several private foundations including the Carlsberg Foun-
dation and the Lundbeck Foundation. 

In 2020, Aarhus University also received several grants from the 
European Research Council. Professor Benjamin Sovacool from 
the Department of Business Development and Technology re-
ceived an ERC Synergy Grant of DKK 70 million for a research 
project to investigate alternative solutions to global warming. 
The project will illustrate new technologies in the climate strug-
gle, and the aim is to enable the world's politicians and poli-
cy-makers to use fledgling alternative technologies effectively 
in their attempts to stop global warming. 

Professor Lasse Lindekilde from the Department of Political Sci-
ence received an ERC Consolidator Grant of approx. DKK 15 
million to research into how witnesses to online political hatred 
and aggression react, and whether a better debate culture can 
be promoted through pro-social reactions. Associate Professor 
Bjørn Panyella Pedersen from the Department of Molecular Bi-
ology and Genetics also received an ERC Consolidator Grant of 
approx. DKK 15 million for research into plant growth.
 
In addition, four researchers from Aarhus University received ERC 
Starting Grants, each of more than DKK 11 million, for research 
on various topics. Associate Professor of Anthropology Christian 
Suhr from the School of Culture and Society will, with love as a 
framework, describe similarities and differences between the 
experience of the divine for Buddhists, Christians and Muslims. 
Associate Professor of Theology Elisa Katariina Uusimäki from 
the School of Culture and Society will take her outset in Jew-
ish scripture to examine how the ancient Israelites perceived 
'human mobility'.  Using computational neuroscience, Associ-
ate Professor Francesca Fardo from the Department of Clinical 
Medicine will explore the difference between pain experienced 
and physical injury. Associate Professor Micah Allen from the De-
partment of Clinical Medicine and Aarhus Institute of Advanced 
Studies will examine how the active substances in cannabis, also 
known as cannabinoids, affect the body and the brain. 

Aarhus University has also received other grants from framework 
programmes under Horizon 2020. With a grant of approx. DKK 15 
million, Associate Professor Mette Nyegaard from the Department of 
Biomedicine and Associate Professor Dorte Rytter from the Depart-
ment of Public Health are co-ordinating and heading a research 
project to reduce the number of delayed diagnostics for patients 
with the uterine disease endometriosis. The project will include 
genetic and epidemiological studies combined with a patient-tar-
geted app to monitor and analyse the data collected 24/7. Re-
searchers from the Department of Engineering have received DKK 
33 million from the framework programme Future and Emerging 
Technologies to develop new artificial intelligence (AI) hardware 
and build a completely new kind of computer system that mimics 
the way in which the human brain is built up and that can increase 
performance significantly compared with modern supercomputers. 

With regard to public-sector Danish research funding, Aarhus 
University received DKK 70 million from Independent Research 
Fund Denmark as thematic research funding for the green tran-
sition. The thematic research funding is part of the Danish Par-
liament’s appropriation of the research reserve funds and it is to 
be used to help talented researchers and to secure new, original 
ideas and research breakthroughs within climate, nature, the en-
vironment, etc. The amount is divided into 17 grants, with nine 
going to Technical Sciences, seven to Natural Sciences and one 
to Aarhus BSS.

The Danish National Research Foundation granted DKK 46 mil-
lion for an extension of the Center for Music in the Brain headed 
by professor and jazz musician Peter Vuust from the Department 
of Clinical Medicine. The basic research centre was established 
at Aarhus University and the Royal Academy of Music to exam-
ine what happens in the brain when people listen to, sing and 
play music together. The internationally recognised research 
centre has existed since 2015.

Aarhus University has received significant funding from private, 
Danish sources and two researchers, Professor Trine Bilde and 
Professor Signe Normand, both from the Department of Biolo-
gy have received a total of DKK 119.1 million to establish two 
research centres to find research-based solutions to how biodi-
versity can be future-proofed in a changeable climate with ev-
er-increasing resource needs. The grants are part of the Novo 
Nordisk Foundation Challenge Programme. One centre will fo-
cus on insects and effects on their genetic diversity and the other 
centre will develop tools to predict how and in which areas na-
ture restoration in relation to agricultural production will have the 
greatest impact on biodiversity in the future. 

At the end of 2020, the Lundbeck Foundation granted DKK 75 
million to the brain research centre DANDRITE, enabling research 
at the centre to continue up to 2028. The centre has existed since 
2013 and is headed by Professor Poul Nissen from the Depart-
ment of Molecular Biology and Genetics. The grant makes it pos-
sible to recruit five new DANDRITE group leaders with individual 
research programmes in the field of neuroscience.

With a grant of DKK 38 million, the Novo Nordisk Foundation also 
contributed to a project in which, using parish records, the Aarhus 
BSS Centre for Integrated Register-based Research (CIRRAU), 
the Danish National Archives, the University of Copenhagen and 
the coordinating body for register-based research (KOR) will es-
tablish a new multi-generational register. With Professor Carsten 
Bøcker Pedersen from the Department of Economics and Busi-
ness Economics in charge, CIRRAU will be responsible for the 
new multi-generational register. 

For the first time, the Novo Nordisk Foundation has awarded 
grants within the research programme NERD, which is aimed at 
ambitious and "crazy" research ideas within scientific and tech-
nical research. Associate Professor Alexander Zelikin from the 
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Department of Chemistry and iNano has received one of these 
grants of DKK 13.5 million for research into the development of 
artificial chemical receptors.

Several types of grants aim at developing young talents, and a 
number of young researchers from Aarhus University received 
these grants in 2020. Seven researchers from Aarhus University 
were appointed as Sapere Aude research directors by Independ-
ent Research Fund Denmark and received a total of DKK 43 mil-
lion split into three grants for Natural Sciences, three for Arts, and 
one for Aarhus BSS. One of the grant recipients from the Faculty 
of Arts, Associate Professor Katja Brøgger from the Danish School 
of Education was one of five researchers to receive an Inge Leh-
mann grant in addition to her Sapere Aude grant. Moreover, three 
research talents from Natural Sciences received a total of DKK 
29 million from the Villum Foundation under the Villum Young In-
vestigator programme, and a researcher from Health received a 
Novo Young Investigator grant. Finally, eight young researchers 
received the Carlsberg Young Researcher Fellowship; four from 
Arts, three from Natural Sciences and one from Health. 

AWARDS
In 2020, several researchers from Aarhus University received priz-
es and awards for their research. Some examples are mentioned 
below.

Professor Anders Møller from the Department of Computer 
Science received one of the five EliteForsk prizes awarded by 
the Ministry of Higher Education and Science each year to re-
searchers under the age of 45 for research of international ex-
cellence. Anders Møller received the prize for his work in theo-
retical computer science with focus on programming languages 
and program analysis, especially with application in Java-script 
programs and methods, to make it possible to analyse and find 
errors in programs before they are used in web applications, for 
example.

Professor Preben Bo Mortensen from the Department of Econom-
ics and Business Economics, scientific director of iPSYCH and 
centre director at the National Centre for Register-based Re-
search received the Novo Nordisk Prize together with Professor 
of Clinical Medicine Merete Nordentoft from the University of Co-
penhagen for their joint clinical and epidemiological research 
contributions to Danish medicine. Preben Bo Mortensen utilises 
register-based research in his work to uncover mental disorders 
in the population, improve the treatment of people with mental 
disorders and prevent suicide.

Professor Karl Anker Jørgensen from the Department of Chemis-
try received the Maria Skłodowska-Curie medal with the explan-
atory memorandum "exceptional scientific achievements of in-
ternational significance" within the research field of asymmetric 
catalysis. The medal was awarded at the annual meeting of the 
Polish Chemical Society and has previously been awarded to 
internationally groundbreaking chemists.  

Professor Bo Barker Jørgensen from the Department of Biology is 
the twelfth Dane to be invited to join the very prestigious Nation-
al Academy of Sciences in its 157-year-long history. The acad-
emy invites researchers with significant results, and Bo Barker 
Jørgensen has been honoured for his research into the ecology 
of marine microorganisms, which has had a major impact on our 
understanding of the substance cycles of the oceans. 
Professor Søren Dinesen Østergaard from the Department of 
Clinical Medicine and Aarhus University Hospital received two 
prizes for his work on developing new tools to measure the se-
verity of mental illness and the effect of treatment. These were 
the Lundbeck Foundation's Young Investigator Prize and the Jor-
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ck Foundation Research Prize 2020.

EDUCATION

Portfolio of degree programmes
In Strategy 2025, Aarhus University has set a goal to enhance 
development of the degree programme portfolio, in which pro-
file adaptation and training  more engineers and IT specialists 
are the two key initiative areas. As part of this, in 2020 a new 
Bachelor’s degree programme in technical science (Mechani-
cal Engineering), a new Master’s degree programme in IT, com-
munication and organisation, and a new MSc in Economics and 
Business Administration line in commercial and retail manage-
ment were established. 

A new executive Master's degree programme in informatics 
teaching was also set up. The programme will strengthen the 
university's collaboration with upper-secondary schools and 
meet the demand for further education for informatics teachers 
at upper secondary schools. It is offered in collaboration with the 
University of Copenhagen, the University of Southern Denmark, 
the IT University, Roskilde University and Aalborg University and 
the first intake started in 2020. Finally, in 2020 Aarhus Universi-
ty also set up a Master's degree programme in natural sciences 
and mathematics teaching in collaboration with the University 
of Copenhagen. 

Recruitment and commencement of studies
A total of 7,492 new students were offered places on Bache-
lor’s degree programmes in 2020, which is a good 500 more (5 
per cent) than last year. This is satisfactory in a time of declining 
numbers of school leavers per year group. 

The number of students enrolled on the engineering pro-
grammes and digital programmes rose significantly in 2020, 
among other things because 539 additional student places in 

Bachelor’s and Master’s degree students

• 33,381 students enrolled 

• 27,039 applicants

• Bachelor’s degree programmes: 7,187 admissions, 4,653 graduates 

• Master’s degree programmes: 5,771 admissions, 4,987 graduates
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natural sciences, technical and economics programmes were 
offered at Aarhus University as a result of corona. The 539 extra 
places were part of the 4,500 additional student places national-
ly requested by the government in study programmes with good 
job prospects. This is because of expectations that corona would 
mean that more young people than usual would apply for high-
er education programmes. In the same context, Aarhus Univer-
sity decided to reduce the grade requirement in quota 1 at the 
faculties of Natural Sciences, Technical Sciences and Business 
and Social Sciences from 7 to 6.

This year's intake is still characterised by high grade averages. 
However, the level is not as high as in 2019, and this is primar-
ily due to the discontinuation of the grade bonus by a factor of 
1.08. The decrease in the qualifying average grade is 0.5, and 
this year it is therefore 8.9 compared to 9.4 in the previous year. 
A similar decline can be seen at other universities. The intake to 
Master's degree programmes fell by 3 per cent compared with 
last year. The explanation for this is presumably primarily the ex-
tended legal right of admission, which came into force in 2019.

Coronavirus
The study-start programme was affected by coronavirus and 
was therefore different in many ways from what new students at 
the university usually meet. In practice, both the academic and 
social activities in connection with the study-start programme 
were conducted through a combination of physical and online 
attendance. As a supplement to the physical commencement 
of studies, in collaboration with the Student Council, Aarhus Uni-
versity developed Study@AU. This is a virtual study-start module, 
through which new students are introduced to student life im-
mediately after having confirmed their student places. Study@
AU consists of four modules lasting approx. 30 minutes and it in-
cludes text, information graphics and short videos. The themes 
are the university as an organisation and educational institution; 
the structure of the degree programmes and academic regula-
tions; digital platforms; and social and academic communities. 
In the run-up to the commencement of studies in 2021, Study@
AU will be further developed with modules aimed at internation-
al students and students on Master’s degree programmes.

The coronavirus also meant that a very large amount of teach-
ing and exams in the spring were reorganised at short notice. 
Despite the partial return to campus in the autumn semester, 
both teaching and exams have demanded considerable flexi-
bility, creativity and sustained efforts on the part of students and 
teaching staff. The reorganisation tested otherwise robust and 
long-term planning. Student access to campus was reduced, so-
cial activities were closed down and teaching was organised in 
new ways. At the same time, on a daily basis, students had to 
maintain the structure of their student life themselves and find 
new ways of staying in contact with teaching staff and fellow 
students. Fortunately, the completion time was unchanged, and 
the number of exams passed increased a little, with a slightly 
higher grade level in 2020.

Further to the spring lockdown, Aarhus University conducted 
a major survey of teaching staff and students. The aim was to 
extract experience and knowledge about the reorganisation in 
order to obtain learning for future use. The study confirms that 
in-person teaching has qualities that cannot immediately be re-
placed online. For example, it shows that meeting on campus 
has a strong value, that a sense of community and cohesion is 
lost when teaching is not physically at the university, and that 
the virtual format does not provide the same opportunities to 
conduct practice-based teaching. Emergency teaching stressed 
the value of being a campus university. Not least because many 
students find it harder to find motivation in the digital classroom, 
to maintain a good study-leisure balance and to maintain social 
contact with their fellow students, with consequential problems 
of loneliness. The coronavirus made a significant impression on 
the study environment. 

In 2020, Aarhus University therefore made extraordinary efforts 
to maintain student well-being at a high level, even though stu-
dent life is different and less social than normal. Similarly, there 
is also considerable focus on ensuring that the good study and 
club/association activities are restored when the campus can 
again accommodate academic and social events for students. 
This focus will continue in 2021, and during the year, the senior 
management team will take stock of the effects of the initiatives.

Structure and process
Since it came into force in 2014, the study progress reform has 
led to a significant increase in ECTS credits across all Aarhus 
University degree programmes. Study progression on Bachelor's 
degree programmes has risen from 27.0 to 29.4 ECTS on aver-
age per semester, while Master's degree programmes have in-
creased from 20.2 to 26.4 ECTS. 

Since 2018, time on task has been part of the strategic frame-
work contract following a request from the Ministry of Higher Ed-
ucation and Science. It is measured in Degree Programme Zoom 
as students' own indication of the time spent on their study pro-
gramme. The average for 2020 has been calculated at 37 hours 
per week and ranges from 34 hours per week (Arts) to 41 hours 
per week (Natural Sciences). In order to maintain a high time 
on task, there is constant focus on embedding student activities 
in all degree programmes, both in teaching and in the time be-
tween scheduled lessons. 

Among other things, student-activating activities are supported 
by investment in, and prioritisation of, a minimum number of les-
sons on all Bachelor's and Master's degree programmes of 12 
and 8 lessons per week, respectively, as well as through the EDU 
IT initiative. The latter is mainly being implemented by redesign-
ing course programmes, because curriculum development at 
programme level is the engine of the initiative. The faculties are 
in charge of the redesign task, with technological support from 
the university’s EDU IT Hub. The number of courses that have been 
redesigned is calculated annually and in 2020 there were 197.
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As previously, the EDU IT initiative also includes a distribution 
of seed money for educational projects. In 2020, the pool was 
increased to DKK 2.5 million, and this was supplemented with 
funds from the faculties. A total of 22 projects received funding 
in 2020. At the Faculty of Arts, some of the money went to work 
on formative feedback, while Health is working on case-based 
teaching, peer feedback and a better coupling between theo-
ry and practice. At Natural Sciences and Technical Sciences, all 
major Bachelor courses – approx. 90 per semester – have been 
through a redesign process. 

Furthermore, our ambition is to enhance students’ learning out-
comes by strengthening their digital competences beyond mere 
technical understanding. This will be achieved through the third 
track of the university's digitalisation initiative, which aims to 
ensure relevant digital competencies on all university degree 
programmes. All the faculties have launched initiatives. At the 
Faculty of Arts and Aarhus BSS, for example, in 2020 there were 
efforts to improve student awareness of digital issues and com-
petences and how they work with these. This includes the stu-
dents' readiness to meet a digitised labour market, and use of 
digital topics and working methods by teaching staff. 

The work at the Faculty of Arts and Aarhus BSS complements the 
two projects for which Aarhus University and a number of partner 
institutions have attracted a total of almost DKK 13 million to con-
duct competency development programmes for teaching staff. 
The approach is that the academic environments assess how to 
incorporate the digital dimension into the different degree pro-
grammes, after which workshops for students on the relevant 
technologies are held. 

AU’s four teaching development centres and the EDU IT Hub 
were merged into a single centre for the development of univer-
sity teaching on 1 October 2020. The new unit has been named 
the Centre for Educational Development. The centre will be a 
central player in the forward-looking quality assurance work on 
university teaching by strengthening educational and didactic 
support and by sparring with teaching staff. The centre will there-
fore support competency development for teaching staff, assist 
and support academic environments in their work on curricular 
development, and provide guidance and support at different 
levels of management. The Centre for Educational Development 
will also play a central role the replacement of the university's 
learning management system in 2021. The preparatory work 
was initiated in 2020.

Collaboration with upper secondary schools
Aarhus University has a close and broad partnership with upper 
secondary schools and has a large portfolio of upper-second-
ary-school activities. These include live streaming of lectures, 
the rolling university (Det Rullende Universitet) and counselling 
activities for upper-secondary-school students in the form of 
SubUniversity, study trials and U-days. Live streaming to upper 
secondary schools has demonstrated its full potential during co-
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rona. In 2020, 12 lectures were held with a total of 36,000 reg-
istered pupils from all over Denmark on topical subjects such as 
the SDGs, the Danish Reunion, citizenship, doping and Covid-19. 
The most well-attended event was held in connection with the 
presidential election in the US in November, where 15,000 pu-
pils from 119 upper secondary schools followed Professor Derek 
Beach's lecture live. 

Students’ transition to working life
Educating graduates for the labour market of the future is one of 
the core tasks in Strategy 2025. The key is to balance and tone 
the university's graduate competency profile according to the 
needs of the private and public sectors, as well as a wide range 
of activities to support students' affiliation to the labour market. 

Part of the latter is Master's thesis collaboration, project place-
ments and case competitions. The number of Master's thesis 
collaborations and project placements has grown since 2018, 
when figures were first recorded. The number of Master's thesis 
collaborations has increased from 472 in 2018 to 882 in 2020, 
while the number of project placements has increased from 
1,627 in 2018 to 1,882 in 2020.

As in previous years, in 2020 Aarhus University also offered a se-
ries of case competitions, which have been conducted at both 
faculty and university levels. Among the latter was a successful 
AU Challenge. In 2020, the Faculty of Arts held two case com-
petitions with 15 companies and 150 students, while Aarhus BSS 
held three case competitions involving more than 185 students 
and 16 companies. In addition, 62 students from Aarhus BSS took 
part in a number of Nordic and international case competitions.

COLLABORATION AND KNOWLEDGE EXCHANGE 

Collaboration and knowledge exchange with society are impor-
tant elements in Strategy 2025. With its research contributions 
to the development of society and welfare, Aarhus Universi-
ty aims primarily to stimulate innovation and entrepreneurship 
through more knowledge-based spinouts and startups, and 
more entrepreneurial experience. Secondly, we aim to establish 
more value-generating collaborations with the business com-
munity and public institutions, and the third aim is to establish 
a stronger foundation with initiatives and incentives to promote 
external collaboration and entrepreneurship, more professional 
infrastructure and greater visibility for the university's many col-
laborations. Collaboration is already up and running in many 
different ways, and in 2020 Aarhus University continued its work 
to open up the university even more, with more collaborations to 
benefit companies, local authorities, students and researchers. 
For example, this has resulted in 70 reported inventions from AU 
employees and 486 research agreements concluded with com-
panies in 2020. This is despite a year in which the corona pan-
demic has meant that a large number of conferences, meetings 
and trips have been cancelled or converted to online format. 
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Together with current and new partners, models for collabora-
tion have been further developed in 2020. Aarhus University has 
entered into knowledge partnerships with companies, renewed 
our agreement with the Central Denmark Region, contributed to 
municipal development and strengthened our network with the 
Confederation of Danish Industry, the Danish Chamber of Com-
merce, SME Denmark, etc. Our collaborations have helped forge 
a better framework for entrepreneurship and business coopera-
tion, making it easier to apply the university's research and get 
more graduates into a job.

Examples of external collaboration
Aarhus University's contribution to regional development is re-
flected in our continued collaboration with municipalities. One 
example of this is an industrial and academic project with Ring-
købing-Skjern Municipality as part of a collaboration agreement. 
Backed by an investment of DKK 15.8 million, local companies, 
Ringkøbing-Skjern Municipality, the Ringkøbing-Skjern Business 
Council and the municipality's knowledge committee have 
teamed up with Aarhus University to build a new research and 
demonstration laboratory, the AU Digital Transformation Lab, 
which will be located at Innovest in Skjern. The new facility will 
ensure that local companies in Ringkøbing-Skjern Municipality 
are at the forefront of the fourth industrial and digital wave, In-
dustry 4.0, through tests and demonstration of new technologies 
in the laboratory by and for companies.

Another example is a new agreement with Viborg Municipali-
ty to expand collaboration between public and private law of-
fices in Viborg and the Department of Law at Aarhus Universi-
ty. This will give students more opportunities to meet potential 
workplaces through study trips and career events. The agree-
ment with Viborg Municipality also sets specific objectives for a 
stronger Foulum, which houses large parts of the university's food 
and agricultural research. These include a shared vision and de-
velopment plan for the Foulum area, joint measures to attract 
investment and companies as well as collaboration on the bio-
economy, sustainable land management, the green transition, 
low-lying soil and river valleys. 

Collaboration with Herning Municipality has also been extended 
in 2020. Aarhus University has a number of study programmes 
located in Herning and has set up several new programmes 
there over the past couple of years. Together with Herning Mu-
nicipality, we regularly assess which degree programmes will 
be relevant for the local business community, and there is close 
collaboration on recruitment for these programmes. Local com-
panies from all over central and western Jutland meet students 
during their studies through collaboration on competitions and 
project placements. In continuation of the new engineering pro-
grammes, working with Herning Municipality and other local 
players, in 2020 we established an engineering lab in which stu-
dents, teaching staff and companies can work closely together 
to apply technology in new ways.

In 2020, Aarhus University has opened the inter-faculty entre-
preneurship facility: The Kitchen. The Kitchen has hosted a wide 
range of events for students, including the Entrepreneurship 
Festival, Women Startup, etc. Similarly, researchers have par-
ticipated in Science for Society events and been part of Open 
Entrepreneurship; a collaborative programme with several oth-
er universities aiming at screening, developing and accelerat-
ing potential research cases. Around 100 startups and 25 active 
spinout cases kept The Kitchen busy in 2020. This is despite long 
periods of lockdown in The Kitchen because of corona. Despite 
corona, The Kitchen has also entered into a number of agree-
ments with external partners, including Accelerace and Innova-
tion Fund Denmark. 

In collaboration with the Central Denmark Region, the City of 
Aarhus, Grundfos, the start-up company UNSILO, Incuba and 
Færchfonden, Aarhus University has completed a two-year 
Regional Entrepreneurship Acceleration Programme at the 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). At the end of the 
programme in 2020, the parties decided to establish an organi-
sation based in The Kitchen that in future will strengthen innova-
tion, entrepreneurship and growth in the region within the cen-
tral Jutland strongholds of food, cleantech and health. 

The spinout company NMD Pharma was founded in 2015, and 
over the years it has attracted more than DKK 300 million to de-
velop new drugs to treat neuromuscular diseases. In 2020, the 
company moved into the INCUBA research park at Aarhus Uni-
versity Hospital. The company will help strengthen the health 
cluster in Skejby, which, in addition to a number of biotech com-
panies, is also home to the Department of Clinical Medicine. Like 
Draupnir Bio, Stipe Therapeutics and others, NMD Pharma origi-
nated in the Department of Biomedicine, which, within just a few 
years, has generated a number of promising spinouts that have 
attracted investments totalling almost DKK 1 bn.

In 2020, Aarhus University established the pilot project ODIN 
(Open Discovery Innovation Network), which has received 
funding of DKK 54.5 million from the Novo Nordisk Foundation 
and provides the framework for open interdisciplinary projects 
with researchers from Natural Sciences, Technical Sciences and 
Health, as well as medical and biotech companies. This spring's 
matchmaking events and idea generation resulted in 39 ideas, 
19 of which were for specific project applications. After both in-
ternal and external reviews, at the end of the year, five research 
projects were selected to proceed. 

In 2020, Aarhus University also made its collaboration with larger 
companies more visible. In 2020, 50 companies were contacted 
with a view to entering into knowledge partnerships. The pur-
pose of contacting companies is to establish more joint activities 
between them and Aarhus University, including within research, 
education and entrepreneurship, and to create a clear entry 
point for companies and demonstrate a clear ambition on the 
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part of Aarhus University for increased collaboration. Twenty-two 
of the companies contacted have responded positively, and 13 
are interested in further co-operation. Among other things, this 
has led to three workshops between companies and research-
ers, and a number of companies have also invested in entrepre-
neurs. 

Research-based public-sector consultancy
Aarhus University has significant public sector consultancy ser-
vices covering research, consultancy, emergency response and 
research dissemination under framework agreements with Dan-
ish ministries, primarily with the Ministry of Environment and the 
Ministry of Food. The framework agreements are supplement-
ed by additional contracts with the ministries, and, finally, the 
framework agreement funding is substantially geared by exter-
nal funding attracted by the research environments. Public sec-
tor consultancy is thus an important asset for Aarhus University, 
with research being part of services and forming the basis of re-
search-based public sector consultancy. A strong research base 
is, therefore, a prerequisite for high-quality public sector consul-
tancy in areas with a great deal of popular interest, which thus 
also attract a great deal of political attention.
However, it is important to stress that the cumulative effect of the 
annual reduction of 2% of the budget since 2009, combined with 
the fact that the ministry's demand for advice during the same 
period has increased, places considerable pressure on the finan-
cial basis for public sector consultancy.

After a lot of preparatory work, Aarhus University introduced a 
quality management system in 2019 in order to ensure the qual-
ity of public sector consultancy. After a comprehensive audit 
in 2020, the quality management system was certified by the 
accredited certification company FORCE. The certification was 
based on the international ISO 9001 standard, and the system 
documents and ensures consultancy activity of high and uniform 
quality to benefit both the university and the client. 

Aarhus University also provides research-based public sector 
consultancy services in the area of the Ministry of Justice, under-
taken by the Department of Forensic Medicine.

Other forms of external cooperation 
Despite corona, in 2020, Aarhus University also had significant 
outreach activities, although the pandemic did restrict some 
activities. Aarhus University Press continued publishing the book 
series Tænkepauser (Reflections). These are inexpensive, small, 
brief and insightful books written by researchers from Aarhus 

University. Each book contains 60 pages and provides a brief 
and clear understanding of current research topics, and they 
have been well-received by reviewers and readers alike. At the 
end of 2020, the publishing house had published 84 books, the 
most recent with the title Emojies. The publisher also continued 
publishing the book series 100 danmarkshistorier in which re-
searchers will write about the history of Denmark in 100 books 
of 100 pages, published over eight years. So far 39 books have 
been published, the latest with the title Stavnsbåndet (serfdom). 
Selected titles from both book series are being adapted for stage 
and debated in collaboration with Nørrebro Teater in order to 
reach an even greater audience.

Aarhus University also continued its public lectures on natural 
sciences. Each semester, six to eight lectures are offered in the 
Lakeside Lecture Theatres in Aarhus for an audience of usual-
ly around 800 people for each evening event. The lectures are 
live-streamed to 225 upper secondary schools, cinemas, librar-
ies, university extension institutions, community and cultural cen-
tres etc. in Denmark, Greenland, the Faroe Islands and Southern 
Schleswig with a total of around 10,000 participants. However, in 
2020 the lectures were affected by the coronavirus pandemic 
in the spring and autumn, which led to fewer talks and fewer 
seats for the audience. The lectures present the latest research 
and discoveries from the world of natural sciences. The lecture 
series is organised by Natural Sciences and offered in collabo-
ration with hosts in a large number of cities and the Carlsberg 
Foundation. 

A successful external collaboration has resulted in Aarhus Uni-
versity's first satellite orbiting at almost 400 kilometres and cap-
turing images of the Earth. It is called Delphini-1 and was built by 
students from Aarhus University in collaboration with GomSpace 
A/S in Aalborg and with university employees from the Depart-
ment of Physics and Astronomy, the Department of Engineering 
and the Department of Geoscience. The students' commitment 
has been crucial in realising the mission. The students participat-
ed in the introductory exercises, in which the satellite was doc-
umented, they built the cube, helped to transport it to Kennedy 
Space Centre for launch, and took turns to sit in the control room 
and communicate with Delphini-1.
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Aarhus University broke even in 2020, with equal revenues and 
costs. After a budgeted loss of DKK 49 million, the result realised 
was DKK 0. Total revenues were DKK 6,660 million against expected 
total revenues of DKK 6,833 million, corresponding to a negative 
variance of DKK 172 million. Total costs were DKK 6,696 million, 
which is DKK 206 million less than budgeted costs of DKK 6,902 
million. Net financial income was DKK 35 million, which is DKK 16 
million higher than budget.

The negative budget variance reflects a year affected by repeated 
coronavirus closures and shows a reduction in the level of activity 
compared with both the level expected in budget planning and 
the level in 2019. 

In the years up to 2021, Aarhus University has built up equity that 
now exceeds the equity target of 10 per cent of revenues. After 
accounting for the result for 2020, equity amounted to 13.7 per 
cent of revenues. The objective for the next few years is to use this 
latitude of excess equity to implement new strategic initiatives and 
to continue ongoing initiatives in, among other things, digitalisation 
programmes and engineering. An aggregate deficit has been budg-
eted for the period 2021 – 2024 of DKK 136 million. The planned 
deficit is expected to reduce equity to approach the 10 per cent 
target in 2024. The latest board decisions regarding the financial 
challenges at TECH are likely to make the deficit slightly greater. 

In the 2021-2024 budget, Aarhus University expects stable an-
nual growth in revenues, with the underlying assumption that the 
Covid-19 restrictions will be lifted during the first part of 2021. 

The financial result for 2020 therefore gives no reason to adjust the 
strategic direction or the 2021-2024 budget.

FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR
University revenues in 2020 were DKK 6,660 million, corresponding 
to a real decrease of 2 per cent compared to 2019.

Total Finance Act grants were DKK 4,237 million, corresponding to 
an increase of DKK 5 million or 0.1 per cent in real terms. Overall, 
education grants rose by DKK 20 million from 2019 to 2020 (1 
per cent). Total student FTE production fell by 46 FTEs from 2019 
to 2020 (0.2 per cent), although the funding reform means that 
educational revenues no longer depend entirely on student FTE 
production but also on basic subsidies, performance subsidies and 
quality subsidies. In 2020, approx. DKK 30 million was received 
following an extraordinary coronavirus initiative in the Finance Act.

2.3 FINANCIAL REVIEW

Table 1. Income Statement 2019 and 2020, DKK mill., 2020 prices 

DKK mill., 2020 
prices

FS19 B20 FS20 FS20-FS19 FS20-FS19, 
%

Finance Act 
grants

4,233 4,196 4,237 5 0%

External funding 2,069 2,172 1,984 -85 -4%

Sales/other ope-
rating income 493 465 439 -53 -11%

Total revenues 6,794 6,833 6,660 -134 -2%

Salaries -4,454 -4,548 -4,533 -79 2%

Construction 
costs -959 867 -910 48 -5%

Other operating 
costs -1,236 -1,323 -1,101 135 -11%

Depreciation and 
amortisation

-147 -164 -152 -4 3%

Total costs
-6,797 -6,902 -6,696 100 -1%

Financial items
54 20 35 -18 -34%

Profit/loss 52 -49 -52 -100%

There was a slight real increase in basic research funding of DKK 
11 million compared to 2019 (0.6 per cent), partly due to a special 
coronavirus grant of approx. DKK 4 million to extend PhD courses, 
and partly due to technical accounting adjustments from year to 
year. These adjustments will even out in the coming grant year.

The contract for research-based public sector consultancy is reduced 
by 2 per cent every year, and was down to DKK 373 million in 2020. 
This means that there has been a real decrease in the contract 
value since 2016 of over 10 per cent.

Table 2. Development in contract for public sector consultancy 
2015 – 2020, DKK million, 2020 prices 

DKK mill., 2020 
prices

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Government con-
tracts

415 401 391 381 373

Use of external funding fell by DKK 85 million compared to 2019, 
corresponding to a real decrease of 4.1 per cent. The impact of the 
repeated and protracted closures due to the Covid-19 pandemic 
has proved to be very significant for use of external research grants. 
The effect has also been observed in the financial follow-ups over 
the year. However, the decline has only manifested itself in the 
figure for other operating costs, and externally financed payroll 
costs have actually increased. 
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Sales and other operating income include tuition fees for continuing 
and further education, income-generating activities and forensic 
services, and amounted to approx. 7 per cent of revenues in 2020, 
which is similar to 2019. In 2020, revenues from sales and other 
operations were DKK 439 million, corresponding to a real decrease 
of DKK 53 million (10.8 per cent) compared with 2019. These reve-
nues have been most affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. Tuition 
fees from foreign self-paying students and further and continuing 
education and conference participation fell by almost DKK 26 
million (22 per cent) from 2019 to 2020 (2020 prices), while other 
sales together fell by just over DKK 27 million. 

The university's total costs fell by DKK 100 million in real terms 
from 2019 to 2020 (1.5 per cent), which partly counteracted the 
lower income. 

Payroll costs are the university's largest cost and amounted to DKK 
4,533 million in 2020. Compared to 2019, when salaries were 66 per 
cent of the total costs (DKK 4,454 million at 2020 prices), salaries rose 
to 68 per cent of total costs in 2020. The actual increase in payroll 
costs was DKK 79 million. (1.8 per cent). The increase includes an 
extra provision for holiday pay liabilities of DKK 23 million arising 
from the transition to concurrent holiday.

Use of staff in 2020 was 8,005 FTEs, which is a total drop of 35 FTEs 
from 2019 (0.4 per cent). Use of academic staff FTEs increased by 
29 FTEs, while use of part-time academic staff FTEs fell by six FTEs 
and for technical/administrative staff by 58 FTEs.

Total other operating costs, incl. rent and building operations, fell 
by DKK 183 million (2020 prices). Other operating costs have been 
particularly affected by the Covid-19 restrictions. Travel and en-
tertainment expenses fell by DKK 152 million from 2019 to 2020, 
corresponding to 69 per cent. Another Covid-19 factor has had 
the opposite effect; having many employees working from home 
entailed a need for rapid digital transformation, and this contributed 
to a costs increase of almost DKK 23 million, corresponding to 16 
per cent, for telephones, computers, IT devices, other hardware, 
software, AV equipment and procurement of IT services. 

Overhead income from external funding fell by 5.1 per cent (DKK 
19 million, 2020 prices) from 2019 to 2020. The decrease is a 
direct consequence of the lower use of external funding, since 
the average overhead share of external funding has remained 
unchanged from 2019 to 2020 (17.2 per cent). 

Depreciation fell by 3 per cent from 2019 to 2020 (DKK 4 million), 
partly because of delays in acquisitions in 2020 due to coronavirus 
factors.

Financial items constituted net revenues of DKK 35 million, which 
was DKK 18 million lower than in 2019. Revenues of DKK 20 million 
were budgeted at the beginning of 2020, but at the end of the first 
quarter, when the first Corona lockdown became a reality, there 
was a deficit of almost DKK 87 million. At the end of 2020, Aarhus 

University had investments for DKK 1,995 million. The investments 
are primarily in Danish bonds and a small amount in shares and 
corporate bonds. The return corresponds to 1.8 per cent.

CORE ACTIVITIES AND RESOURCES

The previous section on the financial results for the year uses 
a terminology and a categorisation of revenues and costs 
that primarily refer to section 3. Financial statements. The 
following section concerns AU’s core activities and resourc-
es, represented by the university's revenues broken down by 
purpose and results of activities such as education, research 
and PhD programmes. The terminology and the categori-
sation of revenues follow the definitions in Universities Den-
mark’s statistical service, which are also used to define the 
financial highlights in Appendix 4.2. Financial highlights are 
a mandatory part of the annual report and are calculated 
identically across the sector. In the financial statements, ex-
ternal funding consists of external research grants and other 
grant-financed activities, while sales of goods and services 
include income-generating activities, forensic services and 
other revenues under ordinary activities (see Appendix 4.1). 
In the break-down of revenues by purpose, forensic medi-
cine and income-generating activities are included in the 
external funding category. Consequently, discrepancies will 
occur between the figures in the two sections.

The university's core activities - education, research, public sector 
consultancy and knowledge sharing - are financed by funding 
under the Finance Act, external research grants, other external 
funding, income-generating activities, sales of forensic services, 
public sector consultancy as well as other revenues in the form of 
financial income, letting and subletting, and other sales of goods 
and services.

The sources of revenue are broken down in figure 1.

Figure 1 Break-down of revenues 2020, DKK mill. and per cent
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As shown in the figure, the university's largest sources of income are 
more or less evenly distributed between education (29 per cent), 
basic research (32 per cent) and external research grants (28 per 
cent), which together make up DKK 5,913 million. The remaining 
12% consists of other external funding (2 per cent), income-gen-
erating activities (2 per cent), forensic services for the Ministry of 
Justice (1 per cent) and other revenues of DKK 489 million (7 per 
cent). Other income includes 50 per cent of the research-based 
public sector consultancy agreement. The other half of the public 
sector consultancy contract is included in the calculation of basic 
research funding. 

Aarhus University's status in relation to other universities is meas-
ured, among other things, as student FTE funding, use of external 
research grants, research production in the form of publications, 
and PhD programmes. These four elements (FTEs, external research 
grants, bibliometric scores and PhD degrees awarded) are there-
fore included in the allocation key used by the Ministry of Higher 
Education and Science to allocate new basic research funding 
to the university sector. For a number of years, Aarhus University 
has remained stable in this allocation key, with a share of approx. 
22 – 23 per cent of total new basic research funding for the sector.

Education revenues amounted to a total of DKK 1,909 million. The 
vast majority of educational revenues stem from full-time degree 
programmes (94 per cent), while the remaining 6 per cent come 
from part-time degree programmes (4 per cent), subsidies for 
exchange students, free places and scholarships (1 per cent) and 
subsidies from the Ministry of Children and Education for vocational 
and diploma programmes (1 per cent). 

99 per cent of education revenues from the full-time degree pro-
grammes come from Finance Act grants, while approx. 1 per cent 
come from foreign self-paying students. 

The funding reform, which came into force on 1 January 2019, 
means that the university's per capita student funding is supple-
mented by other funding elements, such as basic subsidies, perfor-
mance subsidies and quality subsidies. The purpose of the funding 
reform was to increase focus on the quality of education rather 
than quantity. 

Figure 2 shows the distribution of Finance Act grants for full-time 
degree programmes divided between the individual basic elements 
of the funding reform.

Total revenues from research activities amounted to DKK 4,005 
million in 2020, and consisted of basic research funding of DKK 
2,120 million, of which contract funds for research from the Min-
istry of Environment and Food amounted to DKK 187 million, and 
grant-financed research funded by public and private sources 
amounted to DKK 1,884 million. 
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Figure 2. Finance Act grants for full-time degree programmes from the Ministry of  
Higher Education and Science 2016-2020, DKK mill., 2020 prices

Table 3. Research funding 2016 - 2020, DKK mill., 2020 prices 

DKK mill., 2020 
prices

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Basic grants 1,912 1,920 1,940 1,923 1,934

Research for 
sector ministries 215 208 203 190 187

Grant-financed 
research activities

1,777 1,838 1,859 1,942 1,884

Total 3,904 3,966 4,002 4,055 4,005

Table 3 shows the trends in the relationship between the three 
elements of the university's research funding.

The contract with the Ministry of Environment and Food of Denmark 
is being reduced by 2 per cent per year. Basic research funding 
from the Ministry of Higher Education and Science has remained 
more or less constant in real terms for a number of years.

The repeated lockdowns due to coronavirus restrictions in 2020 
broke recent years’ increases in the use of external research funding, 
although use is approx. 2% higher than in 2018, corresponding to 
DKK 36 million. As shown in table 4, the increase in use is particularly 
in funding from Danish private sources, which reflects the fact that 
the funding secured from these sources in 2019 was particularly 
high, and this is also clear from table 5. 
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Table 4. External research funding used, DKK mill, 2020 prices

DKK mill., 2020 prices 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Danish public sources 1,054 1,030 936 914 814

Danish private sources 448 527 611 691 725

EU 200 206 216 230 239

Other foreign sources 75 75 97 106 106

Total subsidised 
research activities 1,777 1,838 1,859 1,942 1,884

Table 5 shows the new external grants received. Competition 
between Danish and international universities for new grants of 
external research funding is constantly intensifying. In spite of this, in 
2020 Aarhus University attracted over 7 per cent more grants (DKK 
206 million), thereby continuing the increases in recent years. The 
increase in grants was primarily from public-sector Danish sources, 
but also from the EU and other foreign sources. On the other hand, 
private Danish funding fell. Grants received from Danish private 
sources have increased in recent years, from DKK 671 million in 
2016 to a peak in 2019 of DKK 1,366 million. In 2020, funding from 
Danish private sources reached DKK 1,164 million. 

Table 5. External research funding received, DKK mill, 2020 prices.

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Danish public sources 895 937 721 842 1,208

Danish private sources 671 749 971 1,366 1,164

EU 235 269 245 415 437

Other foreign sources 107 96 191 101 123

Total received 1,908 2,052 2,127 2,724 2,930

The annual amount received is greater than use for all three of the 
top categories, and the holding of unused commitments has risen 
significantly in recent years, see table 6. 

Table 6. Trends in unused commitments 2016 – 2020, DKK mill. 
at current prices

DKK mill. current prices

2016 - Q4 4,251

2017 - Q4 4,307

2018 - Q4 4,498

2019 - Q4 5,174

2020 - Q4 6,325

Other external grants amounted to DKK 115 million (see figure 1), 
and include Erasmus scholarships, Sino-Danish Center (SDC) and 
company sponsorships for education. Income-generating activities 
amounted to DKK 126 million and include sales of services at the 
university's dental clinic, sales of consultancy services, laboratory 
analyses, etc. Forensic medicine amounted to DKK 52 million 
in 2020 and includes an agreement on forensic services for the 
Ministry of Justice.

Other revenues amounted to DKK 489 million (see figure 1) and 
comprise 50 per cent of the contract for public sector consultancy 
with the Ministry of Environment and Food (DKK 187 million), other 
basic grants under the Finance Act (DKK 101 million) and other 
revenues in the form of net financial items (DKK 35 million), letting 
and subletting (DKK 14 million), and sales of goods and services 
such as laboratory animals and agricultural products under ordinary 
activities (DKK 151 million).

For example, research activity is measured as scores in the Biblio-
metric Research Indicator (www.bfi.dk), which is used by the Ministry 
of Higher Education and Science to allocate new basic research 
funding between the universities. Trends in bibliometric scores per 
member of academic staff in 2016 - 2020 are shown in table 6.

Table 7. Academic staff FTEs and bibliometric scores 2016-2020

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Academic staff FTEs *)  3,447  3,463  3,539  3,643  3,699 

Bibliometric score  6,241  6,327  7,066  7,343  7,263 

Bibliometric score per 
academic staff FTE

 1.81  1.83  2.00  2.02  1.96 

*) Professor, associate professor, assistant professor, postdoc, PhD, see the job 
structure at universities

As shown in table 6, bibliometric scores increased steadily in the 
period 2016 to 2020, although there was a slight decrease in 2020, 
corresponding to a generally lower level of activity (including in 
the publication channels). While the number of academic staff 
full-time equivalents increased by 7 per cent from 2016 to 2020, 
the bibliometric score increased by 8 per cent.

The number of approved PhD dissertations is also part of the allo-
cation key for new basic research funding between the universities. 
Table 7 shows developments in the number of approved PhD 
dissertations in the period 2016 - 2020 and how they are broken 
down between faculties: Arts/Aarhus BSS and Health/Nat/Tech. 

Table 8. Approved PhD dissertations, 2016 - 2020

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Arts/Aarhus BSS 28% 25% 25% 28% 25%

HEALTH and Nat/Tech 72% 75% 75% 72% 75%

Total number of approved 
PhD dissertations 497 452 417 455 459
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QUALITY GRANT
Since and including 2019, the grant system has included a quality 
grant for institutions of higher education to implement quality 
initiatives. In 2019 and 2020, the quality grants were to support 
the use of feedback and/or the application of technology on 
degree programmes. 

In 2020, Aarhus University used the funds to enhance the edu-
cational IT (EDU IT) initiative adopted by the university board in 
2017. The strategic priorities of the EDU IT initiative consist of en-
gaging and varied forms of teaching as well as more and better 
feedback to ensure better learning outcomes and higher quality 
in research-based degree programmes. 

In this connection, investments have been made to procure and 
implement a number of learning technologies to improve the op-
portunities for teachers at Aarhus University to create varied teaching 
and to support digitally different forms of feedback. For example, 
Aarhus University has procured and implemented the Peergrade 
feedback platform, which makes it possible to involve students in 
structured feedback processes. For example, students can give 
feedback to each other on the basis of criteria set by teachers. This 
helps students learn to assess and reflect on the work of others and 
to structure constructive feedback. During 2020, additional resources 
were used to implement Peergrade even more deeply, and to inspire 
teachers to apply the learning technology didactically and reflectively. 

Another example is the purchase and implementation of the Zoom 
video conferencing system, which makes it easy to hold online 
teaching, start and plan video meetings and interact with others 
live. The system can accommodate a large number of students 
and has a wide range of functions to support stimulating online 
teaching, including a chat function, screen sharing, file sharing, 
recording and live voting.

Besides procuring and implementing technologies, 197 courses 
underwent a redesign process in 2020, with work on feedback, 
digital elements and reorganisation of teaching to digital formats. 
A total of more than 14,000 students have been affected by this 
initiative. 

Another part of the initiative in 2020 consisted of granting DKK 
2 million as seed money for educational projects. Funding was 
granted to 19 educational projects, which were supplemented 
with funds from the faculties, and several initiatives have been 
launched that are anchored close to the relevant degree pro-
gramme. Examples of these educational projects are as follows:
• On the Integrated Marketing course on the MSc in IT, Organisation 

2.3.1 SPECIAL SUBSIDIES
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and Communication, Peergrade and Blackboard have been 
used to focus on increasing formative feedback for students 
when they prepare compulsory assignments. In their course 
evaluations, students stressed that writing the sub-assignments 
and giving feedback helped them to understand the subject 
and apply the theory.

• On the China Now course on the China Studies programme, 
as well as in Bachelor's and thesis supervision, a project was 
completed using the Kaizena tool aiming at supporting lec-
turers' verbal, recorded feedback and guidance. The students 
experience verbal feedback as more personal and detailed 
than written feedback 

• At the faculties of Natural Sciences and Technical Sciences, 
virtually all course elements in large Bachelor’s courses are 
being redesigned, among other things with focus on more and 
better feedback. 

• At the Faculty of Health, the EDU-IT initiative consists mainly 
of initiatives centred on feedback or designing more focused 
study activities between lessons. 

FUNDING TO DEVELOP TOOLS FOR MANAGEMENT EVALUATION
The Danish Agency for Institutions and Educational Grants has 
asked Aarhus University to develop a generic tool for manage-
ment evaluation. In 2020, the university received funding of DKK 
1.5 million. The funding is a continuation of similar funding in 2019. 

Further to the agreement on management and competencies 
in the public sector, in collaboration with the government, Local 
Government Denmark (LGDK), and Danish Regions, the Crown 
Prince Frederik Center for Public Leadership at Aarhus University 
will develop a joint public management evaluation tool. The tool 
is a free-of-charge service for the state, local authorities and re-
gions. The primary objective is to give managers and workplaces 
a tool for dialogue and a basis for working on management and 
leadership, including working on individual managers’ own de-
velopment. The management evaluations will also generate an 
overview at national level, which can be used to assess the need 
for new management initiatives in the state, local authorities and 
regions, and for research. The evaluation is supported by a number 
of process materials collated on the evaluation website. Both the 
questionnaire survey and the supporting process material are 
based on research at the Crown Prince Frederik Center for Public 
Leadership into public leadership, experience with management 
training and methodological skills.

The centre for public leadership started development work on the 
management evaluation in 2019. The researchers have conducted 
extensive literature studies, interviews with Danish public-sector 
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organisations about their experience with management evalu-
ation, and an international research workshop, and they have 
developed and tested a concept for management evaluation in 
a number of public-sector organisations. Work continued in 2020, 
but the project has been a little delayed due to the coronavirus 
and procurement of an IT system. The final tests are now being 
conducted in the run-up to the launch of results from mid-2021 
until the end of 2021. The full grant for 2020 has been used during 
the year. 

FUNDING TO IMPLEMENT EU LAW INTO DANISH LAW
In 2019, Aarhus University received funding of DKK 0.7 million 
from the Danish Agency for Institutions and Educational Grants. 
The funding was granted by agreement with the Presidium of the 
Danish Parliament, which, at the behest of the European Commit-
tee, granted funding for a research project to investigate how EU 
legislation – with special focus on regulations – affects Danish law.

The grant was not used in 2019, but the full grant was used in 2020. 
The project was carried out by the Department of Political Sci-
ence and has followed its planned course. The project kept to the 
timetable agreed with the client (the Danish Parliament), although 
due to the coronavirus situation it was postponed compared with 
the original grant letter. At the end of the year, all the data had 
been collected and analysed, the report is now being written. 
The project is expected to be completed before summer 2021. 
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2.4 PERFORMANCE REPORTING

On 3 July 2018, Aarhus University entered into a strategic frame-
work contract with the Minister for Higher Education and Sci-
ence. The framework contract is valid from 1 January 2018 to 31 
December 2021.
 
The framework contract consists of seven strategic goals that 
are reported below. The reporting repeats the conclusions of the 
status report prepared for the Ministry of Higher Education and 
Science, with an assessment of whether the university is on track 
to realising the strategic goals as envisaged. 

In general, Aarhus University assesses that there has been sol-
id progress in realising the goals agreed in the strategic frame-
work contract, meaning that, with an unchanged level of activity, 
Aarhus University believes that it will be able to realise all seven 
strategic goals within the contract period. This assessment is de-
scribed in detail below. 

Strategic goal 1: Strengthen the quality of research with a view 
to enhancing Aarhus University’s position as a strong internation-
al research institution

Aarhus University’s assessment of the strategic goal
Aarhus University assesses that there has been progress towards 
realising this strategic goal. The initiatives and activities described 
in Action Plan 2020 have been implemented to a large extent. 
There is a positive trend on the indicator concerning recruitment 
of tenured academic staff. There is a slight decline in the indicator 
concerning attracting external research funding, but this should 
be seen in light of a steady increase in use from 2017. The decline 
is probably due to lower use due to coronavirus. 

Two initiatives with a particular role over the past year in relation 
to realising the strategic goal should be stressed:

• Stronger initiatives concerning the responsible conduct of 
research and freedom of research: Research integrity, re-
sponsible conduct of research and freedom of research are 
fundamental and crucial elements in research production. 
Therefore, all academic staff at Aarhus University, from post-
doc to professor, must now participate in a course to ensure 
knowledge about the current regulations, etc. in the area, and 
to support a strong culture in the academic environments.

• Better gender equality and diversity: Better gender equality 
and diversity is an important prerequisite in realising the goal 
of a stronger position as an internationally recognised re-
search institution. For this reason, work on promoting equality 
and diversity has been particularly important in 2020.   

Strategic goal 2: Strengthen research efforts in areas where the 
labour market particularly lacks expertise and qualified man-
power. 

Aarhus University’s assessment of the strategic goal
Aarhus University assesses that work on this strategic goal is 
making good and stable progress. The initiatives and activities 
described in Action Plan 2020 for additions to academic staff 
have thus been met. The business initiative, which runs up to and 
including 2021, has already achieved the objective for the total 
number of appointments. Similarly, the IT and engineering initia-
tive has seen good progress with regard to capacity expansion, 
and the departments have received a large number of highly 
qualified applications. In total, an additional 25 tenured aca-
demic staff have been employed within the initiatives in 2020. In 
2020, external research funding at Arts has been challenged by 
the corona crisis, and the use of external research funding was 
DKK 411,000 per senior academic staff FTE against the base-
line of DKK 457,000 in 2017. However, consumption is expected 
to rise to a higher level as soon as the situation has normalised. 
Each of the faculties involved are working to fulfil their share of 
the target, which is continuously monitored and followed up by 
the university management twice a year.

Strategic goal 3: Enhance students’ learning outcomes

Aarhus University’s assessment of the strategic goal
Aarhus University assesses that the goals set in Action Plan 2020 
with regard to securing good learning outcomes for students 
concerning 1) student engagement, 2) ECTS credits earned, 3) 
student/academic staff ratio and 4) the EDU IT initiative have 
been met. In addition, a new virtual study-start concept was de-
veloped in 2020, which will be implemented in connection with 
the commencement of studies in 2021. 

Re 1) Results from the Degree Programme Zoom concerning 
time on task show that in 2020, students at Aarhus University re-
ported that they spent a median 37 hours per week on their stud-
ies. The students' reports of the time they spend on educational 
activities were obtained in September and October 2020, and 
they were affected by the coronavirus lockdown. This is consid-
ered to be the primary reason for the slight decrease since the 
last calculation in 2018, when self-reported time consumption 
was 38 hours per week. With this backdrop, the level is consid-
ered satisfactory. 

Re 2) ECTS credits earned per semester are at a stable and 
high level. For 2020, ECTS credits earned have been calculated 
at 28.1 ECTS per semester per student. This result is considered 
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satisfactory. This is partly because the point of departure of 28.0 
ECTS credits in 2018 is high, and partly because, following the 
lockdown and the subsequent reorganisation of teaching from 
physical to online, it was expected that there would be a more 
pronounced decline.

Re 3) The ratios of students per tenured member of academic 
staff at the Faculty of Arts and at Aarhus BSS are 20.1 and 26.1, 
respectively, which is an improvement compared to the estab-
lished baseline. 

Re 4) Aarhus University's EDU IT initiative is in its third year, and it 
has been registered that 197 courses were redesigned in 2020 
in order to increase learning outcomes through more and better 
application of learning technology. Approx. 14,500 students are 
following the redesigned courses. The criterion for the courses 
included in the calculation is that a didactic redesign must have 
taken place for the course. The considerable number of courses 
which, due to corona, were converted from physical to online 
teaching in 2020 is thus additional to the number of courses stat-
ed.

Strategic goal 4: Prepare students better for the labour market

Aarhus University’s assessment of the strategic goal
In 2020, Aarhus University continued its work to improve the 
transition from studying to the labour market. Aarhus University 
assesses that the objectives set out in Action Plan 2020 in this 
regard have been met. The same applies to work to adjust the 
graduate competency profile.

The central element of Aarhus University's work in this context 
consists of the different types of collaboration between the la-
bour market and the students during their studies. The most im-
portant initiatives are to increase the number of Master’s theses 
written in cooperation with business and industry as well as the 
number of students in project placement. Developments from 
2019 to 2020 are as follows:  

• Number of project placements has increased from 588 to 882
• The number of Master's theses prepared in collaboration with 

business and industry has increased slightly from 1,800 to 
1,882 

The percentage of graduates (except Bachelor’s degree grad-
uates) and Master’s degree graduates from Aarhus University 
employed in the private sector increased correspondingly. For 
graduates (except Bachelor’s degree graduates) the figure was 
52 per cent, while the figure for Master’s degree graduates was 
50 per cent. 

Cooperation between Aarhus University and the City of Aarhus 
to reduce the rate of unemployment among graduates inten-
sified in 2020. During the year, meetings were held between 

pro-rector, the Committee on Education and the head of em-
ployment at the City of Aarhus. The meetings resulted in a num-
ber of specific activities, including two courses for unemployed 
graduates offered by the City of Aarhus, with Aarhus University 
as the supplier, one in digital innovation and the other in entre-
preneurship. In addition, a collaboration has been initiated to 
provide better data for targeted initiatives within the subject ar-
eas in which graduate unemployment is highest. This includes 
parts of the programme portfolio within the humanities and the 
life sciences, respectively. The collaboration also includes a Job 
Bootcamp held by the City of Aarhus in October, with 3,000 un-
employed academics and with Aarhus University as a player. 
The pre-graduate programme, which we have held with the City 
of Aarhus for a number of years, continued in 2020. 

Profile adjustment, with more students on engineering pro-
grammes and digital programmes, is still being implemented. In 
this connection, the Bachelor of Engineering degree programme, 
the Master's degree programme in IT, communication and or-
ganisation, and the executive Master's degree programme in 
informatics teaching were offered for the first time in 2020. The 
latter is in collaboration with the University of Copenhagen, the 
University of Southern Denmark, the IT University of Copenha-
gen, Roskilde University and Aalborg University. In 2020, Aarhus 
University also set up the Master's degree programme in natural 
sciences and mathematics teaching in collaboration with the 
University of Copenhagen.

The trend in applications and admissions for IT and engineer-
ing programmes declined during the period. As described in last 
year's status report, the primary reason for this is probably the 
new admission requirement at the Faculties of Natural Sciences 
and Technical Sciences, which were implemented at the former 
Faculty of Science and Technology in 2019. The figures availa-
ble so far for admissions in 2020 are positive, and a significant 
increase is expected. Among other things, this is because, as a 
result of Corona, 539 extra student places were offered within 
natural sciences, technical and economic degree programmes 
at Aarhus University. In order to accommodate the increases in 
applications, Aarhus University changed the grade requirement 
in quota 1 at the faculties of Natural Sciences, Technical Scienc-
es and Aarhus BSS. Efforts to attract more students to STEM pro-
grammes will continue in the coming years. 

At Aarhus BSS, the range of education programmes was re-
duced in 2020 because of the closure of the Master's degree 
programme in international business communication and the 
executive Master's degree programme in international entrepre-
neurship, education and training. This was to improve the match 
between the degree programmes offered and the demand for 
graduates. 
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Strategic goal 5: Help to promote greater innovation in private 
enterprises and the public sector

Aarhus University’s assessment of the strategic goal
It is Aarhus University’s assessment that the realisation of the stra-
tegic goal showed satisfactory progress in 2020. Aarhus Univer-
sity continued its work to open up the university even more, with 
more collaborations to benefit companies, local authorities, stu-
dents and researchers. Even though this was a year with many 
postponements, cancellations and conversions to online events 
and meetings due to corona. 
Despite the coronavirus, in 2020 Aarhus University intensified its 
priority on business collaboration and innovation with the start of 
a new and stronger organisation headed by a newly appointed 
director of enterprise and innovation. The director of enterprise 
and innovation is part of the senior management team, which 
has launched a strategy process and activities to help the univer-
sity make a larger and clearer contribution to society.

Together with current and new partners, models for collabora-
tion have been further developed in 2020. Aarhus University has 
entered into knowledge partnerships with companies, renewed 
our agreement with the Central Denmark Region, contributed to 
municipal development and strengthened our network with the 
Confederation of Danish Industry, the Danish Chamber of Com-
merce, SMV Danmark, etc. Our collaborations have helped forge 
a better framework for entrepreneurship and business coopera-
tion, making it easier to apply the university's research and get 
more graduates into a job. 

In 2020, Aarhus University enhanced its entrepreneurship for 
both students and researchers with the establishment of the in-
ter-faculty entrepreneurship facility: The Kitchen. The Kitchen is 
an open house for partners such as companies, investors, men-
tors, etc., and it provides an excellent framework for startups and 
spinouts at Aarhus University. 

The number of new research agreements fell in 2020 to 486 
agreements, primarily due to the coronavirus situation.
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Strategic goal 6: Develop the university’s contribution to society 
through research-based public sector consultancy

Aarhus University’s assessment of the strategic goal
In 2020, Aarhus University worked hard on the planned initiatives 
in order to maintain its strong position within research-based 
public sector consultancy. Aarhus University is therefore of the 
opinion that the target for 2020 has been met.

The indicator for a stronger research base, gearing of contract 
funds for research-based public sector consultancy within food, 
agriculture and the environment fell slightly from 147 per cent in 
2018 to 139 per cent in 2019, as reported in 2020. However, it is 
still above the starting point of 130 per cent, and this documents 
the desired retention and enhancement of the gearing.

Quality assurance has been improved in 2020 by implementing 
and obtaining certification of a quality management system in 
accordance with ISO 9001. 

Strategic goal 7: Strengthen the development of schools and 
daycare on the basis of research

Aarhus University’s assessment of the strategic goal

Aarhus University assesses that the National Centre for School 
Research (NCS) has come a long way in its efforts to take on a 
central national role, including by enhancing its research profile 
through strategic recruitment. The initiatives and activities de-
scribed in Action Plan 2020 have to a large extent been imple-
mented, in particular the planned communication and network-
ing activities. However, the coronavirus crisis has challenged the 
implementation of projects in collaboration with employers and 
university colleges, and the annual use of project funding was 
therefore not maintained at the usual high level in 2020.  How-
ever, it is expected to return to the previous level as soon as the 
coronavirus situation has normalised. 
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with the goals in the university's climate strategy for 2020-2025. 
In 2021, this year's climate action plan will be implemented with 
specific CO2reduction activities. 

• Continued focus on responsible conduct of research and free-
dom of research In 2021, workshops will be held at all de-
partments and schools with focus on dialogue on topics and 
dilemmas relevant to the local academic environments. The 
workshops will build on the compulsory online course that all 
academic staff have completed.

• Promotion of gender equality among employees and managers. 
Implementation of the Action Plan for Gender Equality 2020-22 
forms the basis for targeted efforts to promote gender equality 
among employees as well as managers. The action plan includes 
a number of specific activities at department/school level, facul-
ty level and central/cross-organisational level. In 2021, a special 
activity will be a series of workshops for the entire management. 

In the 2021-2024 budget, Aarhus University expects stable annual 
growth in revenues, with the underlying assumption that the Cov-
id-19 restrictions will be lifted during the first half of 2021.

A slight increase in educational income is expected, with an in-
creased production of student FTEs in the budget period from 2021-
2024, primarily driven by the engineering and digitalisation initia-
tive. There are positive expectations for additional external funding, 
as well as to use the increasing amount of unused commitments. 
This requires recruitment of more full-time academic FTEs and, con-
sequently, rising payroll costs. All things being equal, the increasing 
dependence on external grants will require more co-financing of 
both direct and indirect costs of the external grants.

Like the other budgets for recent years, there is strong optimism 
about the future level of activity.

At the end of 2020, Aarhus University's equity totalled DKK 909 million 
after a negative correction to the amount brought forward of DKK 48 
million, because the Agency for Public Finance and Management 
announced a reorganisation of the principle of calculating the val-
ue of holiday pay due. Thus, equity accounts for 13.7% of revenue. 
In the budget for 2021-24, the university's strategic investments are 
expected to result in negative results, and this will bring down equity 
to the board's long-term target of 10% of revenue.

Table 9. Realised revenues, 2019 and 2020 financial statements, 
2021 budget, DKK mill., current prices

DKK mill. current 
prices

FS2019 FS2020 B2021 B22 B23 B24

Total revenues 6,727 6,660 6,957 7,239 7,445 7,649

Profit/loss 51 0 -48 -39 -33 -17

2.5 OUTLOOK FOR 2021

A central focus for Aarhus University in 2021 is to consolidate and 
process the consequences of the corona lockdown, the extent of 
which is still uncertain. The lockdown has affected - and continues 
to affect - degree programmes, research and collaboration with ex-
ternal parties. One important point is the negative impact of the co-
rona lockdown on student well-being, and the university will have 
strong focus on mitigating this in 2021. 

Aarhus University’s Strategy 2025 was adopted by the board in 
December 2019. As a part of ongoing action-plan work, an action 
plan for 2021 has been drawn up, which describes more than 40 
general initiatives that will characterise work on implementing the 
strategy in 2021. There is considerable cohesion with the action 
plan for the strategic framework contract. The following central ini-
tiatives are of particular note: 

• A cohesive effort to support choice of study guidance, recruit-
ment, admissions, retention and employment. Each of the ele-
ments is already being managed individually, but in 2021 there 
will be stronger focus on the cross-cutting cohesive efforts. A 
guiding principle for Aarhus University is to consider the entry to 
student life more cohesively through retention activities aimed at 
the entire first academic year. A similar principle is to facilitate 
graduates' transition to working life through early exposure to the 
labour market during Master's degree programmes. 

• Research of the highest international quality by attracting more 
qualified applicants to permanent academic positions. The 
codes of practice for recruitment have been revised with effect 
from 2021 and implementation of these is an important focus 
area. In this respect, the codes of practice for recruitment are 
key to ensuring that the university will be able to attract a large, 
broad field of highly qualified applicants in the future and there-
by maintain and broaden its position in the global competition.

• Strengthening the university's contribution to development and 
welfare in society as a whole. In 2021, the university will adopt 
and commence implementation of a sub-strategy for business 
collaboration and innovation. This will further strengthen the de-
velopment of projects with the business community and public 
institutions, innovation and entrepreneurship, and it will establish 
a stronger basis for business collaboration and innovation.

• Developing public sector consultancy. The quality management 
system was certified according to ISO 9001 in 2020, and it will 
be optimised in 2021, among other things through the annual 
management evaluation as well as internal and external audits. 
The system focuses on improving the quality of task performance, 
strengthening the integrity of researchers and increasing trans-
parency in Aarhus University's public sector consultancy.

• Continued development of the university's visions for its own sus-
tainable operations and development. There will be particular 
focus on reducing the university's CO2emissions in accordance 
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3. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of accounting
The annual report of Aarhus University has been presented in ac-
cordance with the Ministry of Finance’s guidelines and Ministerial 
Order no. 1021 of 24 June 2020 on the Funding and Auditing etc. 
of Universities.

On the basis of the latest guidelines from the Agency for Public 
Finance and Management, a change of accounting policies has 
been made regarding recognition of the holiday pay liability so 
that, from the 2020 annual financial statements, it includes em-
ployer-paid pension contributions. At the beginning of 2020, the 
difference between the two methods of calculation constituted 
an increase in the holiday pay liability of DKK 47.9 million, and 
this has been adjusted in equity.  

Unlike in previous years, SEA rent has not been included in note 
3.6.12 Contractual obligations.

Apart from this, the accounting policies have been applied con-
sistently with previous years. 

The annual report is presented in DKK ’000.

Recognition and measurement in general
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the historical cost principle.

Revenues have been recognised in the income statement as 
they are earned. Furthermore, all costs incurred to achieve the 
earnings for the year, including depreciation, amortisation, write-
downs, impairment losses and provisions, as well as reversals of 
amounts previously recognised in the income statement as a 
result of changed accounting estimates, have been recognised 
in the income statement.

Assets have been recognised in the balance sheet if it is probable 
that future financial benefits will flow to the university and the 
value of the assets can be measured reliably.

Liabilities have been recognised in the balance sheet if it is prob-
able that future financial benefits will flow out of the university, 
and the value of the liabilities can be measured reliably.

On initial recognition, assets and liabilities are measured at cost. 
Subsequently, assets and liabilities are remeasured as described 
for each item below.

Financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

On recognition and measurement, account is taken of foreseeable 
risks and losses arising before the presentation of the annual report 
that prove or disprove matters existing on the balance sheet date.

Danish kroner (DKK) is used as the currency of measurement. All 
other currencies are regarded as foreign currency.

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated using the rate of 
exchange at the date of transaction. Gains and losses that arise 
due to differences between the rate on the transaction date 
and the rate on the payment date are recognised in the income 
statement as financial items.

Receivables, liabilities and other monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies that have not been settled on the balance sheet 
date are translated using the rate of exchange on the balance 
sheet date. Differences between the rate on the balance sheet 
date and the rate on the transaction date are recognised in the 
income statement as financial items.

Income taxes and deferred tax
The university is not subject to taxation.

Revenues
The university is covered by the Danish University Act and thus 
receives government subsidies and funding. The government 
subsidies are disbursed monthly in twelve instalments on the basis 
of the forecast student full-time equivalents and are recognised in 
the period in which they are received. Every year in October, the 
actual student full-time equivalents are calculated and the on-ac-
count payments are adjusted. Government subsidies concerning 
public sector consultancy are recognised in the period in which 
they are received. External funding received and commitments 
made, including revenues from cooperation agreements, are rec-
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ognised as revenues as and when costs are incurred. Tuition fees 
from open education programmes are recognised as revenues 
in the period to which they relate. Other sales and cash sales are 
recognised as revenues at the time of invoicing. 

Costs
Costs include the costs associated with the year’s activities.

Financial items
Financial income and expenses include interest as well as realised 
and unrealised foreign currency translation adjustments.

Intangible assets
Finished development projects
Comprehensive research is an integral part of Aarhus University’s 
activities. The general rule is that this research is not commercial, 
and the costs incidental to such research are recognised in the 
income statement as and when they are incurred.

Only costs for inventions where it is possible to demonstrate a 
relationship between costs incurred and future earnings are cap-
italised.

Inventions, patents and licences are measured at cost less ac-
cumulated amortisation and impairment losses or any lower 
recoverable amount, and are amortised over the term of the rights, 
which is typically 20 years, or a shorter useful life.

Acquired concessions, patents, licences etc.
IT software licences are measured at cost less accumulated am-
ortisation and impairment losses and are amortised over the term 
of the agreement, but not over more than three years.

Property, plant and equipment
Land is measured at cost. No depreciation is provided on land.

Buildings, leasehold improvements, plant and machinery, transport 
equipment, as well as other equipment and IT equipment, are 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.

Donated buildings taken over from the Danish State are measured 
on initial recognition at replacement cost based on an assessment 
made by the Ministry of Higher Education and Science.

Property, plant and equipment under construction are measured 
at cost.
Cost includes the acquisition price and costs directly related to 
the acquisition until the time when the asset is ready to be put 
into operation.

Assets with an acquisition price of less than DKK 100,000 are 
recognised at cost in the year of acquisition.

Assets are normally depreciated over their expected useful life 
(see below). 

Assets deemed to have a shorter economic life based on a con-
crete assessment may instead be depreciated over their eco-
nomic life. 

Profits or losses on the disposal or scrapping of non-current assets 
are recognised in the income statement under depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Non-current assets received as donations
Aarhus University continuously acquires non-current assets using 
funding from grant-financed activities. The projects are financed by 
the EU, enterprises, the Danish State, grants and private individuals. 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated in accordance 
with the usual accounting policies.

As a counter entry to the recognised non-current assets, an item 
is recognised under accruals as “Accrued donations”. This item is 
dissolved and recognised as revenues in the income statement in 
step with the depreciation provided on the relevant non-current 
assets. This sets off the effect on the profit of the depreciation of 
non-current assets received through grant-financed activities.

Collections and works of art
Over the years, the university has received an extensive number 
of collections and works of art from different benefactors. These 
are not regarded as having any financially measurable value for 
Aarhus University, and the university is not planning to sell any of 
them. For this reason, the collections and works of art have not 
been recognised in the financial statements at any value.

Inventories
Inventories, i.e. stocks that can be sold and are included in active 
production, are measured at the lower of cost (using the FIFO 
principle) and net realisable value. The net realisable value of 
inventories is calculated as the expected sales price in normal 
operations less completion costs and costs incurred to effect 
sale. The net realisable value is determined with due regard for 
marketability, obsolescence and developments in the expected 
sales price.

Livestock is valued in accordance with the “TSS circular” from the 
Danish tax authorities concerning normal commercial values.

Consumables are not recognised in the balance sheet, as the 
total value is not material and the stocks maintain almost the 
same level from year to year.
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Receivables
Receivables are recognised in the balance sheet at the lower of 
amortised cost and net realisable value, which here corresponds 
to the nominal value less write-downs for bad debts. Write-downs 
for bad debts are based on an individual assessment of each 
receivable.

Receivables from ongoing funding activities
To the extent that Aarhus University incurs costs for activities which 
are financed by grants under agreements, but where the grants 
have not yet been paid, the grants to which Aarhus University 
has acquired a right are recognised as receivables from ongoing 
funding activities.

Prepayments
Prepayments recognised under assets include costs incurred 
relating to subsequent financial years.

Securities
Securities recognised under current assets and which form part of 
the cash reserves include listed bonds measured at fair value on 
the balance sheet date. The fair value is measured on the basis 
of the most recently listed ask price.

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when, due to an event that happened 
before or on the balance sheet date, the university has a legal or 
constructive obligation, and it is probable that economic benefits 
will flow out of the university to meet such an obligation.

Long-term debt
Fixed-interest loans, such as mortgage loans and loans with 
credit institutions, are recognised on the raising of the loan at 
the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. For 
subsequent periods, loans are measured at amortised cost, so 
that the difference between the proceeds and the nominal value 
is recognised in the income statement as interest expenses over 
the term of the loan.
Liabilities other than provisions are measured at amortised cost, 
essentially equalling nominal value.

Liabilities
Liabilities are measured at amortised cost, essentially equalling 
nominal value.

Holiday pay payable
This item includes both holiday pay payable and the holiday 
pay liability. In addition, a new item has been registered in the 
balance sheet concerning frozen holiday funds. 

Accrued donations 
As mentioned under property, plant and equipment, the value of 
non-current assets procured through grant-financed activities is 
recognised. The counter entry to property, plant and equipment 
is an accrual of the value of the donation, which is recognised 
as revenues on a straight-line basis over the same period as the 
related non-current assets are subject to depreciation, so that 
the net income statement is not affected by the depreciation 
recognised as costs.

Prepaid tied-up funds from ongoing 

funding activities
Prepaid tied-up funds relate to ongoing funding activities which 
are funds received to cover costs not yet incurred. Aarhus Uni-
versity charges a fee for certain grants to cover capacity costs 
for funding activities. The fee is recognised as revenues as the 
grants are spent.

Other deferred income
Other deferred income recognised as liabilities covers other pay-
ments received relating to income in subsequent financial years.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows the cash flows for the year from 
operating, investing and financing activities and the cash effect 
of these cash flows. The statement includes the value of shares, 
bonds and cash.
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The basis of depreciation is distributed on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the assets, which are:
Buildings 10-50 years

Leasehold improvements The lease term/maximum 10 years

Plant and machinery 5-20 years

Transport equipment 5-30 years

Equipment and IT equipment 3 years



ANNUAL REPORT 202032 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 INCOME STATEMENT 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER

DKK ’000

Note Income statement FS 2020 FS 2019

 Ordinary operating income

 Grants for own operation from the Danish Finance Act 4,239,977 4,190,833

 External funding 1,983,671 2,048,300

 Sales of goods and services 436,802 487,984

 Total ordinary operating income 6,660,450 6,727,117

 Ordinary operating costs

Consumption costs

 Rent 674,473 684,852

 Other consumption costs 95,313 107,810

 Total consumption costs 769,786 792,662

 Staff costs 4,533,088 4,410,510

 Other ordinary operating costs 1,243,952 1,382,205

Depreciation, amortisation, write-downs and impairment 
losses

149,497 144,264

 Total ordinary operating costs 6,696,323 6,729,641

Profit/loss before financial items -35,873 -2,524

Financial items

 Financial income 139,667 64,340

Financial expenses 104,031 10,778

 Profit/loss for the year -237 51,038 
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3.3 BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER

DKK ’000

Note Assets FS 2020 FS 2019

Non-current assets

 Intangible assets

Acquired concessions, patents, licences etc. 2,484 851

3.6.2 Total intangible assets 2,484 851

 Property, plant and equipment

 Land and buildings 544,392 565,316

 Plant and machinery 519,856 473,221

 Transport equipment 48,548 49,177

 Equipment and IT equipment 35,968 30,714

 Property, plant and equipment under construction 126,465 126,238

3.6.3 Total property, plant and equipment 1,275,229 1,244,666

 Total non-current assets 1,277,713 1,245,517

 Current assets

Inventories 7,842 8,140

 Trade receivables 130,375 173,385

 Receivables from ongoing funding activities 1,061,838 785,094

 Other receivables 80,914 99,464

 Prepayments 9,203 20,737

Securities 2,555,541 1,943,999

 Cash 142,115 514,764

 Total current assets 3,987,828 3,545,583

 Total assets 5,265,541 4,791,100

DKK ’000

Note Equity and liabilities FS 2020 FS 2019

 Total equity 909,451 957,540

3.6.4 Total provisions 33,169 30,644

3.6.5 Mortgage debt 14,610 16,754

3.6.6 Accrued donations 480,014 446,290

Total long-term debt 494,624 463,044

Short-term debt

 Trade payables 251,861 360,091

Frozen holiday pay 359,581 0

 Holiday pay payable 359,511 605,170

 Other payables 146,959 148,009

 Prepaid tied-up funds from ongoing funding activities 2,347,875 1,855,635

3.6.7 Other deferred income 362,510 370,967

 Total short-term debt 3,828,297 3,339,872

 Total equity and liabilities 5,265,541 4,791,100

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.4 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

DKK ’000 Total equity

Equity according to the 2019 annual report 957,540

Correction of holiday pay liabilities -47,852

Profit/loss for the year -237

Total equity as at 31 December 2020 909,451

      

3.6 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 3.6.1 Number of staff

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Full-time equivalents 8,005 8,040 7,872 7,825 7,853 
      

3.5 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

DKK ’000 FS 2020 FS 2019

Profit/loss for the year -237 51,038

Reversal of items with no cash effect:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on non-current assets, includ-
ing profits from disposals

149,500 144,263

Donations recognised as revenues during the year -71,725 -60,752

Changes in provisions 2,524 -13,026

Changes in receivables etc. -203,353 -6,677

Changes in short-term debt 440,572 284,439

Cash flows from operating activities 317,281 399,285

Purchases of intangible assets -2,417 0

Purchases of property, plant and equipment -181,336 -222,333

Disposal of non-current assets 2,059 1,386

Cash flows from investment activities -181,694 -220,947

Increase in donation obligation 105,449 93,051

Repayment of long-term debt -2,144 -2,136

Cash flows from financing activities 103,305 90,915

Change in cash 238,892 269,253

Total securities and cash as at 1 January 2,458,764 2,189,511

Total securities and cash as at 31 December 2,697,656 2,458,764
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Note 3.6.2 Intangible assets
DKK ’000 Acquired concessions, patents, 

licences etc.
Total

Cost as at 1 January 2020 10,208 10,208

Additions 2,416 2,416

Cost as at 31 December 2020 12,624 12,624

Amortisation as at 1 January 2020 9,357 9,357

Depreciation for the year 783 783

Amortisation as at 31 December 2020 10,140 10,140

Carrying amount 2,484 2,484

Depreciation period/years 3

Note 3.6.3 Property, plant and equipment
DKK ’000 Land and buil-

dings
Plant and ma-

chinery
Transport equip-

ment
Equipment and IT 

equipment
Property, plant 

and equipment 
under construction

Total

Cost as at 1 January 2020 776,151 1,586,440 101,144 285,092 126,238 2,875,065

Additions 3,343 78,577 4,696 22,895 71,825 181,336

Transfers 2,870 65,256 298 3,174 -71,598 0

Disposals -1,276 -27,102 -1,741 -46,515 0 -76,634

Cost as at 31 December 2020 781,088 1,703,171 104,397 264,646 126,465 2,979,767

Amortisation as at 1 January 2020 210,835 1,113,219 51,967 254,378 0 1,630,399

Depreciation for the year 27,138 96,570 5,445 20,814 0 149,967

Depreciation on assets sold -1,277 -26,474 -1,563 -46,514 0 -75,828

Amortisation as at 31 December 
2020

236,696 1,183,315 55,849 228,678 0 1,704,538

Carrying amount 544,392 519,856 48,548 35,968 126,465 1,275,229

Depreciation period/years 10-50 years 5-20 years 5-30 years 3 years

Of the total carrying amount of DKK ‘000 1,275,229, DKK ‘000 479,808 is financed by donations, see note 3.6.6.  

 
Public assessment of land and buildings, see the most recent assessments
Building value 415,835

Land value 73,066

Total public assessment 488,901

Property for which no separate public assessment has been made. Book value 3,400

Of the total carrying amount of DKK 2,484,000 DKK 206,000 is financed by donations, see note 3.6.6.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note 3.6.4 Provisions
DKK ’000 FS 2020 FS 2019

Re-establishment commitments re. leasehold improvements 3,272 3,925

Limited tenures, mutually agreed departures etc. 18,897 15,719

Impairment loss on Student Self-Service (STADS) 11,000 11,000

Total provisions 33,169 30,644

Note 3.6.5 Mortgage debt
DKK ’000

Long-term debt is repaid over the following periods FS 2020 FS 2019

Within one year 2,142 2,136

Between one and five years 8,525 8,532

After five years 3,943 6,086

Total mortgage debt 14,610 16,754
 

 

Note 3.6.6 Accrued donations
Distribution of accrued donations by asset types:

DKK ’000 Acquired concessi-
ons, patents, licen-

ces etc.

Land and 
buildings

Plant and ma-
chinery

Transport 
equip-

ment

Equipment 
and  IT 

equipment

Non-current 
assets under con-

struction

Total

Accrued donations 1 January 2020 623 84,945 269,462  24,721 11,172 55,367 446,290

Transfers 0 0 52,879 0 2,488 -55,367 0

Donations received 0 425 93,846 1,466 9,884 0 105,621

Donations recognised as income -417 -5,812 -56,496 -1,108 -7,892 0 -71,725

Donations disposed of 0 0 -172 0 0 0 -172

Accrued donations 31 December 2020 206 79,558 359,519 25,079 15,652 0 480,014

Accrued donations recognised as revenues in the following periods:

Within one year 73,516

Between one and five years 219,431

After five years 187,067

Total accrued donations as at 31 December 2020 480,014

Note 3.6.7 Other prepayments
DKK ’000 FS 2020 FS 2019

Prepayment of grants 2021 from the Danish Agency for Institutions and Educational Grants (SIU) 
and the Danish Agency for Higher Education and Educational Support (VUS) 

326,543 335,799

Other prepayments 35,967 35,168

Total prepayments 362,510 370,967

Loan 
no.

Property Loan type ISIN code Cur-
rency

Interest 
rate (per 
cent)

Fixed/
floating 
interest 
rate

Charges 
(per cent)

Inte-
rest-only

Principal 
amount 

(DKK mill.)

Outstan-
ding debt 

(DKK mill.)

Expiry

4 Birk Centerpark, 
7400 Herning

Mortgage loan DK0009520876 DKK 0.0522 Floating 0.65 no 32.0 8.8 2026

5 Birk Centerpark, 
7400 Herning

Mortgage loan DK0009520876 DKK 0.0507 Floating 0.65 no 10.0 5.2 2034

6 Birk Centerpark, 
7400 Herning

Mortgage loan DK0009521338 DKK 0.01 Floating 0.65 no 1.2 0.6 2032
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Note 3.6.10 Aarhus University’s total costs for student political activities and other student activities
DKK ’000 FS2020 FS2019 FS 2018 FS 2017

Student sports activities and other student activities

Student sports activities  877 879 898 898

Other student activities 22 7 1 6

Total student activities 899 886 899 903

Student political activities

Student Council/Studenterlauget/Joint Student Council 1,447 1,468 1,449 1,177

Konservative Studenter 100 179 141 46

Frit Forum 142 138 144 144

Total student political activities 1,689 1,784 1,734 1,367

Total 2,588 2,670 2,632 2,270

Note 3.6.8 Use of funds for free places and scholarships in the period 1 September 2019 - 31 August 2020

USE

Number of students enrolled on 
fully or partly free places 

Number of scholarship recipients Use of free places (DKK ‘000) Use of scholarships (DKK ‘000) 

Rate 1 41 31 1,625 3,140

Rate 2 0 0 63 0

Rate 3 23 20 2,030 2,225

Total 64 51 3,718 5,365

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Transferred from the Danish 
Agency for Institutions and Educa-

tional Grants (SIU) (DKK ‘000)

Retained earnings from interna-
tional fee-paying students (DKK 

‘000) 

Use in the financial year (DKK 
‘000) 

Result (DKK ‘000) 

2014 10,268  13,207 -2,939

2015 10,086  14,180 -4,094

2016 9,756 246 10,975 -973

2017 9,526 179 10,492 -787

2018 9,396 0 9,074 322

2019 9,097 0 8,563 534

2020 9,218 563 8,775 1,007

The surplus of DKK 563,000 transferred in 2020 comes from the now discontinued free place scholarship programme for "particularly talented students" and, by 
agreement with the Ministry of Higher Education and Science, it has been transferred to the free place scheme

Note 3.6.9 Scholarships for particularly talented students for the 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 financial years

Year Number of scholarships Subsidies from the Danish Agency 
for Institutions and Educational 

Grants (DKK ‘000)

Use in the financial year (DKK 
‘000)

2015 0 1,200 0

2016 7 2,600 377

2017 11 1,200 1,150

2018 11 0 808

2019 4 0 36

2020 0 0 0

The scholarships expired in January 2019, and the project has now been closed. By agreement with the Ministry of Higher Education and Science, in 2020 the sur-
plus of DKK 563,000 was transferred to the "ordinary free place scheme", see note 3.6.8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note 3.6.14 Contingent liabilities
Some employees have civil servant status, which means that Aarhus University is obligated to provide redundancy pay for up to 36 months if they are dismissed. 
The total maximum liability is DKK 49,186,000. The pension liability for civil servants has been covered by the ongoing payment of pension contributions to pension 
funds.

In respect of salaried PhD fellows, the university guarantees the students’ pay during the period of enrolment. This guarantee may be used if the payroll costs are 
not covered by the companies or institutions with which training agreements have been made.

Aarhus University is covered by the Danish State’s self-insurance principle.

If the university chooses to discontinue the Department of Business Development and Technology or to discontinue the degree programmes offered at the depart-
ment, the Ministry of Higher Education and Science will be entitled to an amount equivalent to the net transfer price at the time of the department’s amalgamation 
with the university on 1 January 2006 of DKK 52,499,000, adjusted according to specific guidelines, including the difference in the market value of the buildings 
and the carrying amount. Partial discontinuation of the programmes would mean that the Ministry of Higher Education and Science would have a pro rata claim. 
The Ministry of Higher Education and Science may approve changes made to the programmes covered by the amalgamation on 1 January 2006 without the uni-
versity being fully or partly liable to pay the adjusted net transfer price to the Ministry of Higher Education and Science.

Aarhus University must conduct research at the Villum Research Station in northeast Greenland until the contract expires on 1 January 2025.
At this time, Aarhus University will be subject to a re-establishment obligation if the Government of Greenland does not wish to renew the cooperation agreement, 
and if Aarhus University does not wish to conduct research at the station after this date. 
This is not considered to be likely.

Note 3.6.13 Contingent assets
The university has a full or partial right to certain inventions and patents. The value of these patents and inventions is uncertain, and there is no sufficient basis for 
recognition.

Note 3.6.12 Contractual obligations 
Aarhus University has rental commitments with periods of non-terminability up to 31 December 2035.

The commitments are as follows:

DKK ’000 Rental commitments

Within one year 150,886

Between one and five years 163,722

After five years 193,204

Total rental commitments 507,812

Note 3.6.15 Charges
Mortgage debt of DKK 14,610,000 is secured by way of mortgages on the university’s properties with a carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 of DKK 
52,913,000 

Note 3.6.11 Information on foundations, organisations etc. with which the university engages in special cooperation of a 
non-commercial nature  
Aarhus University engages in cooperation of a non-commercial nature with the Aarhus University Research Foundation, Incuba Science Park, CAPNOVA, Agro Busi-
ness Park, Agro Food Park, the Danish University Extension, Constructive Institute, Studenterhus Aarhus, the Centre for Business Research, the Danish Society for Nature 
Conservation, the Danish Consumer Council, the Danish Animal Welfare Society and the Danish Hunters’ Association. The university cooperates with and subsidises 
the self-governing institution Sandbjerg Estate, Studenterhusfonden and the Danish Institutes in Athens and Damascus.

However, in contrast to previous years, SEA tenancy is not included in the calculation.
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Note 3.6.16 Equity investments
DKK ’000

Aarhus University  has ownership interests in the fol-
lowing companies:

Investment and acquisition

Company 2020 Accumulated Total company share capital (nominal 
amount in DKK)

AU’s ownership share in %

SIMHERD A/S 145 500 29.00

TEGNOLOGY ApS 34 267 12.90

Pleuratech ApS 5 125 3.84

Cercare Medical A/S 2 475 0.51

Brincker Dynamics ApS 8 80 10.00

Methyl Detect 13 50 25.40
 
Equity investments are recognised in the financial statements at DKK 0. The university had no revenues or expenses in 2020 relating to the above companies f
ollowing their formation.

Note 3.6.17 Overview of accumulated result for income-generating activities   
DKK ’000 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Income-generating activities Revenues 126,134 130,339 131,474 145,623 132,222

Costs -113,251 -118,587 -123,236 -134,517 -126,735

Profit/loss 12,883 11,752 8,238 11,106 5,487

*) Accumulated results DFS 2: Income-generating acti-
vities

142,666 129,784 118,032 109,793 98,688

  
*) Aggregate result includes the results from 2007 onwards. The source of the information for 2007 is the merged institutions’ individual annual reports. The National 
Environmental Research Institute (NERI) had one set of divisional financial statements in 2007. Consequently, the figures for 2007 do not include any revenues from 
income-generating activities in the National Environmental Research Institute. 

Note 3.6.18 Managerial salaries - board
DKK ’000

Managerial salaries, board 2020 2019

Number of external board members 6 8

Remuneration paid to the chair 260 277

Total remuneration paid to other external members 433 426

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



ANNUAL REPORT 202040 APPENDICES

4. APPENDICES

4.1 OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITY TYPES (DIVISIONAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)
DKK mill. 2020 2019 2018 2017

DFS 1: General activities Revenues 4,622 4,552 4,499 4,498

Costs 4,635 4,513 4,511 4,443

Profit/loss -13 39 -12 55

DFS 2: Income-generating activities Revenues 126 130 131 146

Costs 113 119 123 135

Profit/loss 13 12 8 11

DFS 3: Forensic medicine Revenues 51 50 47 46

Costs 51 49 46 46

Profit/loss 2

DFS 4: Grant-financed research Revenues 1,884 1,922 1,813 1,760

Costs 1,884 1,923 1,813 1,760

Profit/loss

DFS 5: Other grant-financed activities Revenues 115 136 137 140

Costs 115 136 137 139

Profit/loss 1

DFS 6: Educational Research Revenues 2 1 2

Costs 2 1 2

Profit/loss

All divisional financial statements 51 -2 68
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No. Financial highlights 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Revenues, DKK mill.

1 Education 1,909 1,882 1,941 1,952 1,980

2 Research 2,120 2,093 2,091 2,037 2,012

3 External funding 2,178 2,239 2,130 2,091 1,988

4 Research-based public sector consultancy services 187 188 183 184 189

5 Basic grants 101 123 52 85 39

6 Other income 201 257 206 225 235

Costs in DKK mill. broken down by purpose 

7 Research 3,494 3,507 3,427 3,320 3,159

8 Education 2,198 2,238 2,223 2,203 2,111

9 Research dissemination and knowledge exchange 215 216 189 251 277

10 Research-based public-sector consultancy 425 420 416 412 369

11 General management, administration and service 345 320 321 286 298

Staff (full-time equivalents)

12 Academic staff 4,175 4,129 4,009 3,902 3,918

13 Part-time academic staff 341 367 377 397 436

14 Technical/administrative staff 3,489 3,544 3,486 3,526 3,499

Balance sheet 

15 Equity, DKK mill. 909 958 907 915 847

16 Balance sheet, DKK mill.  5,266 4,791 4,438 4,320 4,155

17 Buildings, total (gross area in m2) 700,848 707,642 685,770 695,132 675,216

Activity and production information  

Students

18 Number of admissions to Bachelor’s degree programmes 7,187 6,815 7,018 6,989 7,219

19 Number of admissions to Master’s degree programmes 5,771 5,925 5,898 5,767 5,846

20 Number of students enrolled as at 1 October 33,381 33,020 33,112 33,120 34,497

21 Student FTE production 26,475 26,521 26,317 26,842 26,867

Graduates

22 Number of Bachelor’s degree graduates 4,653 4,625 4,512 4,368 4,914

23 Number of Master’s degree graduates 4,987 5,045 5,203 5,917 6,072

Open and part-time degree programmes

24 Number of active full-time equivalents 834 958 1,030 1,142 1,211

25 Number of professional Master’s and diploma degree pro-

gramme graduates

559 594 743 713 701

Internationalisation

26 Number of outgoing students (exchange students) 1,390 1,988 2,005 1,748 2,021

27 Number of incoming students (exchange students) 636 996 1,090 1,055 1,004

28 Number of foreign exchange students on full programmes in 

Denmark

2,717 2,790 2,962 2,913 2,959

PhD programmes

29 Number of PhD students enrolled 1,840 1,798 1,813 1,798 1,781

30 PhD student intake (new PhD students) 549 491 490 507 473

31 No. of approved PhD dissertations 459 455 417 452 497

Research and dissemination results

32 Number of publications (bibliometric indicator) 6,854 6,949 6,605 5,823 5,709

33 Reported patents 28 20 24 19 17

34 Reported inventions 75 80 68 54 71

35 Number of projects with business and industry 2,616 2,713 2,474 2,358 2,600

36 Number of external projects 5,045 5,038 4,699 4,720 5,008

37 Revenues from cooperation with business and industry, DKK mill.  831 790 690 574 494

APPENDICES

4.2 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS



ANNUAL REPORT 202042

No. Financial highlights 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Accounting key figures

38 Profit margin 0 %  0.76 %  -0.04 %  1.03 %  3.12 % 

39 Liquidity ratio  128.26 %  129.65 %  132.37 %  130.76 %  129.05 % 

40 Solvency ratio  17.27 %  19.99 %  20.43 %  21.18 %  20.39 % 

41 Funding ratio  1.15 %  1.35 %  1.62 %  1.80  %  1.98 % 

42 Debt factor  0.21 %  0.25  %  0.28 %  0.32  %  0.36 % 
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The Sino-Danish Center for Education and Research (SDC) ente-
red 2020 with a recently adopted new strategy and an ambition 
to develop and strengthen collaboration between the parties 
involved. At the start of the year, when SDC celebrated its 10th 
anniversary, there were ambitious plans for initiating new activities 
and initiatives. Then Covid-19 struck! First in China and later in 
Denmark and the rest of the world.

The Covid-19 outbreak in China at the beginning of 2020 led 
to lockdown at UCAS by the Chinese authorities, as in all other 
educational institutions in China. The lockdown also included 
the SDC building, which is located on the UCAS Yanqihu cam-
pus, and therefore, at short notice, the SDC had to reorganise all 
educational activities for online teaching. Since then, the Chinese 
government has closed the country's borders, which meant that 
only a few Danish researchers and teaching staff were in China 
in 2020, and of course this challenged the collaboration, but did 
not put it at a standstill.

The transition to online teaching in both the spring and autumn 
semesters was a major upheaval in the students' daily lives. Building 
up an online study environment has therefore been a focus area 
for the SDC throughout 2020. This initiative was carried out in close 
collaboration with the researchers behind the SDC's pedagogical 
unit SMILE (Study Milieu and Intercultural Learning), the purpose 
of which is to help maintain a good study environment to benefit 
students, researchers and teaching staff.

In autumn 2020, the Danish SDC board launched an evalua-
tion of SDC's programme portfolio, with particular focus on the 
possibility of strengthening the recruitment of Danish students 
to SDC's Master’s degree programmes. The evaluation is being 
conducted by an external working group, which is expected to 
submit a report and a number of recommendations to the SDC 
board in spring 2021.

Even though the planned celebration of SDC's 10th anniversary 
in June had to be cancelled, the milestone was still observed with 
a large online event in December, when the SDC launched its 
SDC International Report 2020: Cooperating for Energy Transition. 
The publication is the SDC's most comprehensive interdiscipli-
nary publication to date, containing 17 peer-reviewed articles 
written jointly by Danish and Chinese researchers, and with the 
celebration of the 10th anniversary, it was marked with a large 
academic symposium arranged in collaboration with Innovation 
Centre Denmark in Shanghai.

In 2020, 36 full-time students were enrolled from the Danish side 
on the SDC's Master's degree programmes, including the Master's 
degree programme in International Food Quality and Health, 
which enrolled students for the first time. All SDC research areas 
now have associated Master's degree programmes.

In the PhD area, in 2020 the Danish SDC secretariat provided 
co-financing for the launch of 31 new PhD courses divided bet-
ween the current six research areas: Water and Environment, 
Sustainable Energy, Nanoscience, Social Sciences, Life Sciences, 
and finally Food and Health.

2020 also included replacements on the Danish SDC board. 
Professor Dana Minbaeva (CBS) replaced long-time board mem-
ber Professor Kjeld Erik Brødsgaard, whose period on the board 
expired, while the former dean of UCPH Science, Professor John 
Renner Hansen joined the board instead of Emeritus Professor 
Nils Overgaard Andersen (UCPH).

5. SINO-DANISH CENTER 
FOR EDUCATION AND RESEARCH
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DKK ’000

Note Income statement FS2020 FS2019

 Ordinary operating income

Grants for own operation from the Danish Finance Act 34,389 33,560

 External funding 30,300 30,000

Total ordinary operating income 64,689 63,560

Subsidies transferred to Danish universities 45,355 58,034

Subsidies transferred to China 0 610

Total funds transferred 45,355 58,644

Ordinary operating costs

Consumption costs

Rent 437 495

Other consumption costs 0 41

Total consumption costs 437 536

Staff costs 8,061 7,782

Note 1 Other ordinary operating costs 2,142 2,295

Depreciation, amortisation, write-downs and impairment losses 92 123

 Total ordinary operating costs   56,087 69,380

 Profit/loss for the year 8,602 -5,820

Balance sheet

Assets

Current account with AU 64,152 55,550

Total assets 64,152 55,550

Equity and liabilities

Balance carried forward 2019 55,550 61,370

Funds paid by partners 2020 64,689 63,560

Use of funds paid by partners 2020 -56,087 -69,380

Funds available for future activities, end of 2020 64,152 55,550

Total equity and liabilities 64,152 55,550

THE SINO-DANISH CENTER FOR EDUCATION AND RESEARCH 
INCOME STATEMENT 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2020
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

SINO-DANISH CENTER 

Note 1: The Danish Industry Foundation has awarded DKK 9,000,000 to complete the House of the Danish Industry Foundation in Beijing.
In 2020, DKK 131,000 of this grant was used.
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